A Bibliography





Institut de géographie

The opinions expressed in the report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the International Organization for Migration (IOM). The designations employed and the presentation of material throughout the report do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of IOM concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area, or of its authorities, or concerning its frontiers or boundaries.

IOM is committed to the principle that humane and orderly migration benefits migrants and society. As an intergovernmental organization, IOM acts with its partners in the international community to: assist in meeting the operational challenges of migration; advance understanding of migration issues; encourage social and economic development through migration; and uphold the human dignity and well-being of migrants.

Publisher: International Organization for Migration 17 route des Morillons 1211 Geneva 19 Switzerland Tel.: +41.22.717 91 11 Fax: +41.22.798 61 50 E-mail: hq@iom.int Internet: www.iom.int

© 2012 International Organization for Migration (IOM)

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise without the prior written permission of the publisher.

31\_12

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE: A Bibliography





Institut de géographie

# Contents

Foreword	4
Adaptation	5
Climate Change, Environment and Migration Nexus	7
Data Collection and Methods	17
Gender	18
Governance, Policy and Legal Frameworks	18
Livelihoods and Agriculture	21
Migration and Health	21
Migration and Human Security	21
Relocation/Resettlement	24
Rural–Urban Migration	24
Small Island States and Coastal Cities	25

# Country Reports and Case Studies

Africa	25
Americas	30
Asia and the Pacific	
Europe	
Middle East	43



Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

# Global Migration in a Changing Climate: A Bibliography

#### Foreword

Throughout history, people have moved to adjust to changes in their environment, but more recently climate change and its impacts have sparked renewed interest among academics and the international community in the relationship between migration, the environment and climate change. This nexus is complex: environmental changes can drive migration; however, economic, social and cultural push factors are often difficult to isolate from environmental ones. In addition, migration inversely affects the environment in the place of destination. Other factors such as population growth, poverty, governance, human security and conflict further complicate the relationship between migration, the environment and climate change. The complexities of the migration–environment nexus call for a comprehensive approach in research, policy and practice.

Compiled at the Institute of Geography of the University of Neuchatel (Switzerland), the CLIMIG database is the first comprehensive collection of resources which specifically concentrates on migration, the environment and climate change. Books, journals, scientific papers, case studies and reports are all included, which are useful for those who want an introduction to this topic and also for those requiring more detailed resources in specific areas of the migration–environment nexus. The bibliography has various subheadings to make it user-friendly.

This publication is a first step, which will soon be followed by a book entitled People on the Move in a Changing Climate (Springer and IOM). The CLIMIG database will also be continuously updated with future worldwide publications. We hope that this bibliography will serve as a valuable resource for all those interested in learning more about the migration, environment and climate change nexus.

Frank Laczko Head, Migration Research Division International Organization for Migration (IOM) **Etienne Piguet** Director, Institute of Geography Université de Neuchâtel Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

### Adaptation

#### Adger, W. N.

2006 Vulnerability. *Global Environmental Change*, 16:268–281.

#### Adger, W. N. et al.

2009 Are there social limits to adaptation to climate change? *Climatic Change*, 93(3):335–354.

#### Afifi, T. and J. Jäger

2010 Environment, Forced Migration and Social Vulnerability. Springer Verlag – United Nations University – Institute for Environment and Human Security, Bonn.

#### Banerjee, S. et al.

2011 Labour Migration as a Response Strategy to Water Hazards in the Hindu Kush-Himalayas. ICIMOD, Kathmandu.

#### Bankoff, G. et al.

2004 Mapping Vulnerability: Disasters, Development, and People. Earthscan, London.

#### Bardsley, D. and G. Hugo

2010 Migration and climate change: Examining thresholds of change to guide effective adaptation decision-making. *Population and Environment*, 32(2):238–262.

#### Barnett, J. and M. Webber

2009 Accommodating Migration to Promote Adaptation to Cimate Change. Commission on Climate Change and Development, Stockholm.

#### Black, R. et al.

2011 Climate change: Migration as adaptation. *Nature*, 478(7370):447–449.

#### De Sherbinin, A. et al.

2007 The vulnerability of global cities to climate hazards. *Environment and Urbanization*, 19(1):39–64.

#### Dessai, S. et al. (eds)

2009 *Climate Prediction: A Limit to Adaptation?* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

#### Foresight

2011 Mountainous regions workshop the International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD) 28 February to 1 March 2011. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Fujikura, R. and M. Kawanishi

2010 Climate Change Adaptation and International Development. Earthscan, London.

#### Grothmann, T. and A. Patt

2005 Adaptive capacity and human cognition: The process of individual adaptation to climate change. *Global Environmental Change*, 15(3):199–213.

#### Gupta, A. K. et al.

2006 Adaptation and human migration, and evidence of agriculture coincident with changes in the Indian summer monsoon during the Holocene. *Current Science*, 90(8):1082–1090.

#### Hugo, G.

2008 *Migration, Development and Environment.* International Organization for Migration (IOM), Geneva.

#### Janssen, M. A. and E. Ostrom

2006 Resilience, vulnerability, and adaptation: A cross-cutting theme of the international human dimensions programme on global environmental change. *Global Environmental Change*, 16(3):237–239.

#### Julca, A.

2011 Multidimensional re-creation of vulnerabilities and potential for resilience in international migration. *International Migration*, 49:e30-e49.

#### Martin, S. F.

2010 *Climate Change, Migration and Adaptation.* The German Marshall Fund of the United States, Washington, D.C.

#### McDowell, C.

2011 Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation: Implications for Land Acquisition and Population Relocation. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### McLeman, R. and B. Smit

2006 Migration as an adaptation to climate change. *Climatic Change*, 76(1-2):31–53.

#### Oliver-Smith, A.

2009 Nature, Society, and Population Displacement: Toward an Understanding of Environmental Migration and Social Vulnerability. InterSecTions 'Interdisciplinary Security ConnecTions' Publication Series of UNU-EHS No. 8, Bonn.

#### Oliver-Smith, A. and X. Shen (eds.)

2009 *Linking Environmental Change, Migration and Social Vulnerability*. Source 12 -Publication Series of UNU-EHS, Bonn.

#### OXFAM

2009 Bolivia: Climate Change, Poverty and Adaptation. OXFAM International, Oxford.

#### Pais, J. F. and J. R. Elliott

2008 Places as recovery machines: Vulnerability and neighborhood change after major hurricanes. *Social Forces*, 86(4):1415– 1453.

#### Reenberg, A. et al.

2008 Adaptation of human coping strategies in a small island society in the SW Pacific—50 years of change in the coupled human environment system on Bellona, Solomon Islands. *Human Ecology*, 36:807-819.

### PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Renaud, F. et al.

2007 Control, Adapt or Flee: How to Face Environmental Migration? InterSecTions 'Interdisciplinary Security ConnecTions' Publication Series of UNU-EHS No. 5, Bonn.

#### Shrestha, N. R.

1988 A structural perspective on labour migration in underdeveloped countries. *Progress in Human Geography*, 12(2):179– 207.

#### Silver, N. and B. Potskowski

2011 Financial Instruments for Vulnerable Locations. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Sluyter, A.

2003 Neo-environmental determinism, intellectual damage control, and nature/ society science. *Antipode*, 35(4):813–817.

#### Stojanov, R. et al. (eds.)

2008 Development, Environment and Migration – Analysis of Linkages and Consequences. Faculty of Science, Palacký University, Olomouc.

#### Tacoli, C.

2009 Crisis or adaptation? Migration and climate change in a context of high mobility. *Environment and Urbanization*, 21(2):513–525.

#### Thow, A. and M. D. Blois

2008 Climate Change and Human Vulnerability: Mapping Emerging Trends and Risk Hotspots for Humanitarian Actors – Report to the UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs. Maplecroft/OCHA/ CARE, Geneva.

#### Vergara, W.

2005 Adapting to Climate Change: Lessons Learned, Work in Progress and Proposed Next Steps for the World Bank in Latin America. The World Bank, Washington, D.C.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Warner, K.

2011 Migration and Displacement in the Context of Adaptation to Climate Change: Developments in the UNFCCC Climate Negotiations and Potential for Future Action. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Climate Change, Environment and Migration Nexus

#### Acketoft, T.

2008 Migrations et déplacements environnementaux: Un défi pour le XXI<sup>e</sup> siècle *Conseil de l'Europe, Assemblée parlementaire : Commission des migrations, des réfugiés et de la population.* 

#### Adam, C.

2011 *Macroeconomic Management of Extreme Events*. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Adamo, S.

2008 Addressing Environmentally Induced Population Displacements: A Delicate Task. Background Paper for the Environment Research Network Cyberseminar on Environmentally Induced Population Displacements. Available from: www. populationenvironmentresearch.org (accessed 24 March 2010).

#### Afifi, T. and K. Warner

2008 The Impact of Environmental Degradation on Migrations Flows Across Countries. United Nations University – EHS – Working Paper (5), Bonn.

#### Afolayan, A. A.

2001 Issues and challenges of emigration dynamics in developing countries. *International Migration*, 39(4):5–38.

#### Anthoff, D. et al.

2006 Global and Regional Exposure to Large Rises in Sea-level: A Sensitivity Analysis. Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, Working Paper 96, Tyndall Centre, Norwich.

#### Bailey, A. J.

2011 Population geographies and climate change. *Progress in Human Geography*, 35(5):686–695.

#### Barker, D.

1989 Environmental migrants. Draft Paper for World Resources 1990–1991.

#### Bates, D. C.

2002 Environmental refugees? Classifying human migrations caused by environmental change. *Population and Environment*, 23(5):465–477.

#### Beck, U.

2010 Remapping social inequalities in an age of climate change: For a cosmopolitan renewal of sociology. *Global Networks*, 10:165–181.

#### Beniston, M.

- 2004 Issues relating to environmental change and population migrations: A climatologist's perspective. In: *Environmental Change and Its Implications for Population Migration*. (Unruh, J. D. et al., eds). Kluwer, Dordrecht, p.1–24.
- 2009 *Changements climatiques et impacts.* Presses polytechniques et universitaires romandes, Lausanne.

#### Bevan, D. L.

2011 *The Economic Growth Impacts of Extreme Events*. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Black, R.

- 1998 *Refugees, Environment and Development.* Longman, London.
- 2001 *Environmental Refugees: Myth or Reality?* New Issues in Refugee Research - UNHCR Research Paper (34). UNHCR, Geneva.

### PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

2005 Environmental refugees. In: *Immigration* and Asylum: From 1900 to the Present (Gibney, M. J. et al., eds.). ABC CLIO, Santa Barbara, p.173–177.

#### Black, R. et al.

- 2011a The effect of environmental change on human migration. *Global Environmental Change* 21, Supplement 1(0):S3–S11.
- 2011b Migration and global environmental change. *Global Environmental Change* 21, Supplement 1(0):S1-S2.

#### Black, R. and V. Robinson

1993 Geography and Refugees. Belhaven, London.

#### Blitz, B. K.

2011 Statelessness and environmental-induced displacement: Future scenarios of deterritorialization, rescue and recovery examined. *Mobilities*, 6(3):433–450.

#### Boano, C. et al.

2008 Environmentally Displaced People: Understanding the Linkages between Environmental Change, Livelihood and Forced Migration. Refugee Studies Centre, Oxford.

#### Bogardi, J. and K. Warner

2009 Here comes the flood. *Nature Report Climate Change*, 3 (January):9–11.

#### Boon, E. K. and T. L. Tra

2007 Are environmental refugees refused? *Studies of Tribes and Tribals*, 5(2):85–95.

#### Brooks, N. et al.

2006 Sea Level Rise: Coastal Impacts and Responses. Expertise for WBGU on Oceans and Global Change, WBGU, Berlin.

#### Brown, L.

2011 *World on the Edge*. Earthscan, London/ Washington, D.C.

#### Brown, O.

2008 Migration and Climate Change. International Organization for Migration (IOM), Geneva.

#### Burton, I. et al.

1993 *The Environment as Hazard*. Guilford Press, New York.

#### Carvajal, L. and I. Pereira

2008 Evidence on the link between migration, climate disasters, and human development. In: Paper presented at the International Conference on Environment, Forced Migration and Social Vulnerability, Bonn, 9-11 October. UNDP, Munich.

#### Castles, S.

- 2002 Environmental change and forced migration: Making sense of the debate. New Issues in Refugee Research – UNHCR Research Paper (70). UNHCR, Geneva.
- 2006 Global perspectives on forced migration. Asian and Pacific Migration Journal, 15:7–28.
- 2011 Concluding remarks on the climate change–migration nexus. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.415–427.

#### Chappell, L.

2011 Drivers of Migration in Household Surveys. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Chopra, K. and S. C. Gulati

2001 *Migration, Common Property Resources and Environmental Degradation*. Sage, New Delhi/Thousand Oaks/London.

#### **Christian Aid**

2007 *Human Tide: The Real Migration Crisis*. Christian Aid, London.

#### Clarke, D. and D. Grenham

2011 Microinsurance and Climatic-related Disasters: Challenges and Options. Government Office for Science, UK.

**Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change** on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### **Collectif Argos**

2007 Réfugiés climatiques. Editions Infolio, Paris. Climate Refugees. MIT Press, Boston.

2010

#### Collinson, S.

2011 Review of the Social Drivers of Migration. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Couldrey, M. and M. Herson

2008 Climate Change and Displacement. Forced Migration Review 31, Oxford.

#### Cournil, C. and F. Gemenne

2010 Les populations insulaires face au changement climatique: Des migrations à anticiper. Vertigo - Revue Electronique en Sciences de l'Environnement, 10(3).

#### Cull, T. and K. Vincent

2011 Drylands Workshop 10–11 March 2011. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Curtis, K. and A. Schneider

2011 Understanding the demographic implications of climate change: Estimates of localized population predictions under future scenarios of sea-level rise. Population and Environment, 33(1):28–54.

#### Dasgupta, S. et al.

- 2007 The Impact of Sea Level Rise on Developing Countries - A Comparative Analysis. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 4136, World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- 2009 The impact of sea level rise on developing countries: A comparative analysis. Climatic Change, 93(3-4):379-388

#### Demeritt, D.

2001 The construction of global warming and the politics of science. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 91(2):307-337.

#### Dessai, S. et al.

2004 Defining and experiencing dangerous climate change - an editorial essay. *Climatic Change*, 64(1-2):11–25.

#### El-Hinnawi. E.

1985 Environmental Refugees. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi.

#### Fagan, B.

- 1999 Floods, Famines and Emperors: El Niño and the Fate of Civilizations. Basic Books, New York.
- 2008 The Great Warming – Climate Change and the Rise and Fall of Civilizations. Bloomsbury Press, New York.

#### Ferris, E.

2007 Making Sense of Climate Change, Natural Disasters, and Displacement: A Work in Progress. Calcutta Research Group Winter Course, Bern University, Bern:1–13.

#### Findlay, A. M.

2011 Migrant destinations in an era of environmental change. Global Environmental Change, 21, Supplement 1(0):S50-S58.

#### Flintan, F.

2001 Environmental Refugees – A Misnomer or a Reality? Wilton Park Conference Report on Environmental Security and Conflict Prevention, 1–3 March.

#### Foresight

2011 Migration and Global Environmental Change - Future Challenges and **Opportunities.** Government Office for Science, London.

#### Friends of the Earth

2007 A Citizen's Guide to Climate Refugees. FOE, Fitzroy.

#### Gemenne, F.

- 2009 Géopolitique du changement climatique (geopolitics of climate change). Armand Colin, Paris.
- 2010 Migrations et environnement. Numéro spécial de la revue « Hommes et migrations » 1284, Paris.

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Gemenne, F. et al.

2011 The State of Environmental Migration 2010. Institute for Sustainable Development and International Relations (IDDRI) / International Organization for Migration (IOM), Paris/Geneva.

#### Gill, N.

2010 'Environmental refugees': Key debates and the contributions of geographers. *Geography Compass*, 4(7):861–871.

#### Glantz, M. H.

1988 Societal Responses to Regional Climatic Change. Westview Press, Boulder/London.

#### Godard, O.

2007 L'économie du changement climatique. *Futuribles*, (334):25–42.

#### Goldin, I.

2011 The Future of Global Migration and the Impact of Environmental Change. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Graves, P. E.

1980 Migration and climate. *Journal of Regional Science*, 20(2):227–237.

#### Guterres, A.

2009 Climate Change, Natural Disasters and Human Displacement: A UNHCR Perspective. UNHCR Policy Paper, UNHCR, Geneva.

#### Hallegatte, S.

2011 *The Economic Growth Impact of Sea-level Rise.* Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Handmer, J. and A. Reale

2011 *Wildfires and Migration*. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Harper, S.

2011 Environment, Migration and the Demographic Deficit. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Hatton, T. J. and J. G. Williamson

2002 What Fundamentals Drive World Migration. NBER Working Papers 9159, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

#### Hewitt, K. (ed.)

1983 Interpretations of Calamity: From the Viewpoint of Human Ecology. Allen & Unwin, Boston.

#### Hugo, G.

- 1996 Environmental concerns and international migration. *International Migration Review*, 30(1):105–131.
- 1999 Environmental concerns and international migration. In: *Migration and Public Policy* (Robinson, V., ed). Elgar, Edward Publishing, Cheltenham, 575–601.
- 2008 *Migration, Development and Environment*. International Organization for Migration (IOM), Geneva.
- 2011 Future demographic change and its interactions with migration and climate change. *Global Environmental Change*, 21, Supplement 1(0):S21–S33.

#### Hulme, M.

- 2008a The conquering of climate: Discourses of fear and their dissolution. *Geographical Journal*, 174(1):5–16.
- 2008b Geographical work at the boundaries of climate change. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 33(1):5– 11.
- 2009 *Why We Disagree About Climate Change*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

# Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission (HREOC)

2008 Human Rights and Climate Change. Australian HREOC, Sydney.

#### Hunter, L. M.

2005 Migration and environmental hazard. *Population and Environment*, 26(4):273– 302.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Hunter, L. M. et al.

2003 Environmental hazards, migration, and race. *Population and Environment*, 25(1):23–29.

#### Huntington, E.

1922 *Civilization and Climate*. Yale University Press, New Haven.

#### International Council on Human Rights Policy

2008 *Climate Change and Human Rights: A Rough Guide.* International Council on Human Rights Policy, Geneva.

#### Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre (IDMC)

2012 Global Estimates 2011: People Displaced by Natural Hazard-induced Disasters. IDMC, Geneva.

# International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC)

2012 World Disasters Report 2012: Focus on Forced Migration and Displacement. IFRC, Geneva.

#### International Organization for Migration (IOM)

- 1996 Environmentally induced population displacements and environmental impacts resulting from mass migrations: International symposium, Geneva, 21–24 April. IOM, Geneva.
- 2000 World Migration Report 2000. IOM, Geneva.
- 2008 *Expert Seminar: Migration and the Environment*. International Dialogue on Migration Series, No. 10, IOM, Geneva.
- 2009a Climate Change, Environmental Degradation and Migration: Addressing Vulnerabilities and Harnessing Opportunities. IOM, Geneva.
- 2009b Compendium of IOM's Activities in Migration, Climate Change and the Environment. IOM, Geneva.
- 2009c Disaster Risk Reduction, Climate Change Adaptation and Environmental Migration: A Policy Perspective. IOM, Geneva.
- 2009d *Migration, Climate Change and the Environment.* IOM Policy Brief, IOM, Geneva.

- 2010 World Migration Report 2010. IOM, Geneva.
- 2012 Climate Change, Environmental Degradation and Migration. International Dialogue on Migration, No. 18, IOM, Geneva.

#### Intergovernmental Panel on Cliamte Change (IPCC)

- 2007 Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis – Summary for Policymakers. IPCC, Geneva.
- 2007 Climate change 2007: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change fourth assessment report on scientific aspects of climate change for researchers, students and policymakers. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

#### Jacobsen, K.

1997 Refugees' environmental impact: The effect of pattern of settlement. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 10(1):19–36.

#### Jacobson, J.

1988 Environmental Refugees: A Yardstick of Habitability. Worldwatch Paper 86, Worldwatch Institute, Washington, D.C.

#### Jäger, J. et al.

2009 EACH-FOR (Environmental Change and Forced Migration Scenarios): Synthesis Report. ATLAS Innoglobe, Hungary.

#### Jakobeit, C. and C. Methmann

2007 *Klimaflüchtlinge (Climate Refugees).* Greenpeace, Hamburg.

#### Kaelin, W.

- 2008a The Climate Change–Displacement Nexus. ECOSOC Panel on Disaster Risk Reduction and Preparedness: Addressing the Humanitarian Consequences of Natural Disasters. Available from: www. brookings.edu/speeches/2008/0716\_ climate\_change\_kalin.aspx
- 2008b The Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement: Annotations. The American Society of International Law, Washington, D.C.

#### Khadria, B.

2011 What would be the impact on the future global migration system – and, specifically, on environmental migration – if the Colombo process succeeded in its aims (i.e. relatively free mobility takes place within Asia, including to the Gulf region)? Migration and Global Environmental Change, Series 20, Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Kibreab, G.

1997 Environmental causes and impact of refugee movements: A critique of current debate. *Disasters*, 21(1):20–38.

#### Kliot, N.

2004 Environmentally induced population movements: Their complex sources and consequences – a critical review. In: *Environmental Change and Its Implications for Population Migration* (Unruh, J. D. et al., eds.). Kluwer, Dordrecht.

#### Kollmair, M. and S. Banerjee

2011 Drivers of Migration in Mountainous Regions of the Developing World: A Review. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Laczko, F. and C. Aghazarm (eds.)

2009 *Migration, Environment and Climate Change: Assessing the Evidence.* International Organization for Migration (IOM), Geneva.

#### Lassailly-Jacob, V. and M. Zmolek

1992 Environmental refugees. *Refuge*, 12(1):1–4.

#### Lees, S. H. and D. G. Bates

1984 Environmental events and the ecology of cumulative change. In: *The Ecosystem Concept in Anthropology* (Moran, E. F., ed.). Westview Press, Boulder, p.133–159.

#### Leighton, M.

2006 Desertification and migration. In: *Governing Global Desertification* (Johnson, P. M. et al., eds). Ashgate, London, p.43-58.

### PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

2011 Drought, desertification and migration: Past experiences, predicted impacts and human rights issues. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

#### Leighton-Schwartz, M. L. and J. Notini

1995 Preliminary report on desertification and migration case studies and evaluation.
 In : Desertification and Migrations (Puigdefábrigas, J. et al., eds). Geoforma Ediciones, Logroño, p. 69–113.

#### Leroy Ladurie, E.

- 1967 *Histoire du climat depuis l'an mil.* Flammarion, Paris.
- 2004 Histoire humaine et comparée du climat. Fayard, Paris.

#### Lieber, S. R.

1978 Place utility and migration. Geografiska Annaler. Series B, *Human Geography*, 60(1):16–27.

#### Lilleør, H. B. and K. Van den Broeck

2011 Economic drivers of migration and climate change in LDCs. *Global Environmental Change*, 21: S70–S78.

#### Lohrmann, R.

1996 Environmentally induced population displacements and environmental impacts from mass migrations. *International Migration*, 34(2):335.

#### Lonergan, S.

1998 The role of environmental degradation in population displacement. *Environmental Change and Security Project Report*, (4):5–15.

#### Lonergan, S. and A. Swain

1999 Environmental Degradation and Population Displacement. AVISO, Papers, No. 2, Global Environmental Change and Human Security Project, Victoria.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Magniny, V.

2008 Des victimes de l'environnement aux réfugiés de l'environnement. *REVUE Asylon(s)*, No.6, Exodes écologiques. Available from: http://terra.rezo.net/ article845.html

#### Malthus, T. R.

1798 Essai sur le principe de population.

#### Marchiori, L. and I. Schumacher

2011 When nature rebels: International migration, climate change and inequality. *Journal of Population Economics*, 24(2):569–600.

#### Marx, E.

1990 The social world of refugees: A conceptual framework. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 3(3):189–203.

#### McAdam, J. (ed.)

2010 Climate Change and Displacement: Multidisciplinary Perspectives. Hart, Oxford.

#### McGregor, J.

1993 Refugees and the environment. In: Geography and Refugees: Patterns and Processes of Change (Black, R. et al., eds). Belhaven, London, p.157–170.

#### McNamara, K.

2007 Conceptualizing discourses on environmental refugees at the United Nations. *Population and Environment*, 29(1):12–24.

#### Meze-Hausken, E.

- 2000 Migration caused by climate change: How vulnerable are people in dryland areas? *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 5(4):379–406.
- 2006 On the (im)possibilities of defining human climate thresholds. *Climatic Change*, 89(3–4):299–324.

#### Morrissey, J.

2009 Environmental Change and Forced Migration: A State of the Art Review. Refugee Studies Centre, Oxford Department of International Development, Oxford.

#### Myers, N.

# 1993 Environmental refugees in a globally warmed world. *Bioscience*, (43):752–761.

- 1997 Environmental refugees. *Population and Environment*, 19(2):167–182.
- 2002 Environmental refugees: A growing phenomenon of the 21st century. *Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences*, 357(1420).

#### Myers, N. and J. Kent

2005 Environmental Exodus: An Emergent Crisis in the Global Arena. Climate Institute, Washington, D.C.

#### Neumayer, E.

- 2005 Bogus refugees? The determinants of asylum migration to Western Europe. *International Studies Quarterly,* 49(3):389–410.
- 2006 The environment: One more reason to keep immigrants out? *Ecological Economics*, 59(2):204–207.

#### Neumayer, E. and F. Barthel

2011 Normalizing economic loss from natural disasters: A global analysis. *Global Environmental Change*, 21(1):13–24.

#### New, M. et al.

2011 The Possible Impacts of High Levels of Climate Change in 2060 and Implications for Migration. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Newland, K.

2011 *Climate Change and Migration Dynamics.* Migration Policy Institute, Washington, D.C.

#### Nicholls, R. J.

2004 Coastal flooding and wetland loss in the 21st century: Changes under the SRES climate and socio-economic scenarios. *Global Environmental Change*, 14:69–86.

#### Nicholls, R. J. et al.

2011 Sea-level rise and its possible impacts given a 'beyond 4°c world' in the twenty-first century. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc.* A, 369(1934):161–181

#### Oliver-Smith, A.

2011 Sea level rise, local vulnerability and involuntary migration. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p. 160–187.

#### O'Neill, B. C. et al. (eds)

2001 *Population and Climate Change*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

#### Perch-Nielsen, S. et al.

2008 Exploring the link between climate change and migration. *Climatic Change*, 91(3–4):375–393.

#### Petersen, W.

1958 A general typology of migration. *American* Sociological Review, 23(3):256–266.

#### Piguet, E.

- 2008a Climate change and forced migration. New Issues in Refugee Research – United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees Research Paper (153).
- 2008b Migrations et changement climatique. *Futuribles – Analyses et Prospectives*, Mai(341):31–43.
- 2010 Climate and migration: A synthesis. In: Environment, Forced Migration and Social Vulnerability (Afifi, T. et al., eds). Springer, Bonn, p.73–86.
- 2011a Refugees from ecological disasters. In: World History Encyclopedia, Era 9: Promises and Paradoxes, 1945–Present (Waskey, A. J. et al., eds.). ABC-CLIO– eBook Collection. (accessed 30 May 2011).

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

- 2011b Storms in a tea cup? Global The International Briefing, First Quarter:18–19.
- 2012 Des apatrides du climat ? Annales de Géographie, 683:86–100. From "primitive migration" to "climate refugees" - The curious fate of the natural environment in migration studies. Annals of the Association of American Geographers (forthcoming).

#### Piguet, E. et al.

- 2010a Migration and climate change: An overview. *COMPAS Working Papers (Centre on Migration, Policy and Society – University of Oxford)* 79.
- 2010b Migrations et hangements climatiques. *Working Paper MAPS*, 10.
- 2011a Migration and climate change: An overview. *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 30(3):1–23.
- 2011b Changements climatiques et migrations : Quels risques, quelles politiques ? *L'information géographique*, 75:86–109.

#### Piguet, E. et al. (eds.)

2011 *Migration and Climate Change*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

#### Radcliffe, S. A. et al.

2010 Environmentalist thinking and/in geography. *Progress in Human Geography*, 34(1):98–116.

#### Rebetez, M.

2011 The main climate change forecasts that might cause human displacements. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.37–48.

#### Reilly, M. and Y. Hossain

2011 The Impact of Low-carbon Policy on Migration. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Reuveny, R. and W. H. Moore

2009 Does environmental degradation influence migration? Emigration to developed countries in the late 1980s and 1990s. *Social Science Quarterly*, 90:461–479.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Rodriguez, J. et al.

2009 Annual Disaster Statistical Review 2008: The Numbers and Trends. Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters, Brussels.

#### Romer, K.

2006 Environmental refugees? *Forced Migration Review 25,* Oxford.

#### Rudiak-Gould, P.

2011 Climate change and anthropology: The importance of reception studies. Anthropology Today, 27(2):9–12.

#### Sanderson, M. R.

2009 Globalization and the environment: Implications for human migration. *Human Ecology Review*, 16(1):92–101.

#### Satterthwaite, D.

2008 Cities' contribution to global warming: Notes on the allocation of greenhouse gas emissions. *Environment and Urbanization*, 20(2):539–549.

#### Saunders, P. L.

2000 Environmental refugees – the origins of a construct. In: *Political Ecology* – *Science, Myth and Power* (Stott, P. et al., eds.). Arnold, London, p.218–246.

#### Shepherd, J. M. and T. Knutson

2007 The current debate on the linkage between global warming and hurricanes. *Geography Compass*, 1(1):1–24.

#### Sly, D. F. and J. Tayman

1977 Ecological approach to migration reexamined. *American Sociological Review*, 42(5):783–795.

#### Smith, K.

2001 Environmental Hazards, Assessing the Risk and Reducing Disaster. Routledge, London.

#### Smith, M. S. et al.

2011 Environmental and Non-environmental Drivers of Migration from Global Drylands. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Stern, N.

- 2006 The Stern Review on the Economic Effects of Climate Change (Report to the British government). HM Treasury. Available from: http://webarchive.nationalarchives. gov.uk/+/http:/www.hm-treasury.gov. uk/sternreview\_index.htm (accessed 29 February 2012).
- 2007 The Economics of Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

#### Stojanov, R. et al.

 2008 Environmental factors of migration. In: Development, Environment and Migration

 Analysis of Linkages and Consequences.
 Palacký University, Olomouc, p.123–143.

#### Suhrke, A.

1994 Environmental degradation and population flows. *Journal of International Affairs*, 47:473–496.

#### Suhrke, A. and A. Visentin

1991 The environmental refugee: A new approach. *Ecodecision*, 2(September):73–84.

#### Svart, L.

1976 Environmental preference migration: A review. *Geographical Review*, 66(3):314–330.

#### Tacoli, C.

2011 The Links Between Environmental Change and Migration: A Livelihoods Approach. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Thill, S.

2008 Climate destruction will produce millions of 'envirogees'. *Alternet*. Available from: www. alternet.org/environment/86285/?page=1 (accessed 27 June 2008).

#### Turton, D.

2003 Conceptualizing Forced Migration. Refugee Studies Centre Working Papers Series – Oxford University (13), Oxford.

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

2006 Who is a forced migrant? In: *Development-induced Displacement: Problems, Policies and People* (Wet, C. D., ed.). Berghahn Books, New York, p.13–37.

# United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR)

- 1995 Progress report on the guidelines on refugees and the environment. *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 14(4):78–83
- 2002 Environnement : l'heure est à l'urgence. *Réfugiés*, 2(127) :1–31.
- 2009a Climate Change and Statelessness: An Overview. Submission by UNHCR supported by the International Organization for Migration (IOM) and the Norwegian Refugee Council (NRC), to the 6th session of the Ad Hoc Working Group on Long-Term Cooperative Action (AWG-LCA 6) under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). UNHCR, Geneva.
- 2009b Climate Change, Natural Disasters and Human Displacement: A UNHCR Perspective. UNHCR, Geneva.

#### United Nations Secretary-General

2005 Human Rights and Mass Exoduses: Report of the Secretary-General.

#### United Nations Task Team on Social Dimensions of Climate Change

2011 *The Social Dimensions of Climate Change.* ILO, Geneva.

#### United Nations University

2005 As ranks of "environmental refugees" swell worldwide, calls grow for better definition, recognition, support. 11 October Press Release – UNU Institute for Environment and Human Security. Available from: www. ehs.unu.edu/article:130 (accessed 27 July 2007).

#### Unruh, J. D. et al.

2004 Environmental Change and Its Implications for Population Migration. Kluwer, Dordrecht.

#### Walters, B. B. and A. P. Vayda

2009 Event ecology, causal historical analysis, and human–environment research. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 99(3):534–553.

#### Warner, K. and T. Afifi

2011 Introduction. *International Migration*, 49:e1-e4.

#### Warner, K. et al.

- 2009 In Search of Shelter Mapping the Effects of Climate Change on Human Migration and Displacement. CARE/CIESIN/UNHCR/ UNU-EHS/World Bank.
- 2010 Climate change, environmental degradation, and migration. *Natural Hazards*, 55(3):689–715.

#### Watkins, K.

2008 Fighting climate change: Human solidarity in a divided world. *Human Development Report 2007/2008*:1–19.

#### Webster, M. et al.

2008 *The Humanitarian Costs of Climate Change*. Feinstein International Centre, Tufts University, Medford.

#### Westing, A. H.

- 1992 Environmental refugees: A growing category of displaced persons. *Environmental Conservation,* 19(3):201–207.
- 1994 Population, desertification and migration. Environmental Conservation, 21(2):110– 114.

#### White, G. F.

1945 *Human Adjustment to Floods*. Department of Geography Research Paper No. 29. The University of Chicago, Chicago.

#### Wisner, B.

2010 Climate change and cultural diversity. International Social Science Journal, 61(199):131–140.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Wood, W. B.

2001 Ecomigration: Linkages between environmental change and migration. In: *Global Migrants Global Refugees – Problems and Solutions* (Zolberg, A. et al., eds). Berghahn, New York, p.42–61.

#### Yonetani, M.

2011 Displacement Due to Natural Hazardinduced Disasters – Global Estimates for 2009 and 2010. Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre, Geneva.

### Zaba, B. and J. Clarke (eds)

1992 *Environment and Population Change.* Derouaux Ordina Editions, Liège.

### **Data Collection and Methods**

#### Betts, R. and D. McNeall

2011 What is the Evidence for Changing Variability in Vlimates from Year to Year? Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Bilsborrow, R. E.

2009 Collecting data on the migrationenvironment nexus. In: *Migration, Environment and Climate Change: Assessing the Evidence* (Laczko, F. et al., eds). International Organization for Migration (IOM), Geneva, p.115–196.

#### Black, R. et al.

2011 Migration and climate change: Towards an integrated assessment of sensitivity. *Environment and Planning A*, 43(2):431– 450.

#### Broeders, D.

2011 New technologies and the Monitoring and Management of Migration Flows and Population Displacement. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Collier, P. and A. Hoeffler

2011 *Quantitative Analysis of Determinants of International Migration*. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Döös, B. R.

1997 Can large-scale environmental migrations be predicted? *Global Environmental Change*, 7(1):41–61.

#### Dustmann, C. and A. Okatenko

2011 *Review of Data and Predictions About Attitudes to Migration and the Environment*. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Erhart, C.

2008 Humanitarian Implications of Climate Change: Mapping Emerging Trends and Risk Hotspots. CARE/Maplecroft, Geneva.

#### Foresight

2011 *Estimating Net Migration by Ecosystem and by Decade: 1970–2010.* Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Gemenne, F.

2011 Why the numbers don't add up: A review of estimates and predictions of people displaced by environmental changes. *Global Environmental Change*, 21 Supplement 1:S41–S44.

#### International Organization for Migration (IOM)

2008 Climate Change and Migration: Improving Methodologies to Estimate Flows. IOM Migration Research Series, No. 33, IOM, Geneva.

#### Kniveton, D. et al.

2009 Challenges and approaches to measuring the migration–environment nexus. In: *Migration, Environment and Climate Change: Assessing the Evidence* (Laczko, F. et al., eds). International Organization for Migration (IOM), Geneva, p.41-111.

#### Lutz, W. et al.

2002 *Population and Environment: Methods of Analysis.* The Population Council, New York.

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Marx, S. M. et al.

2007 Communication and mental processes: Experiential and analytic processing of uncertain climate information. *Global Environmental Change*, 17(1):47–58.

#### Perch-Nielsen, S.

2004 Understanding the Effect of Climate Change on Human Migration – The Contribution of Mathematical and Conceptual Models. Diploma Thesis, Department of Environmental Sciences, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, Zurich.

#### Piguet, E.

2010 Linking climate change, environmental degradation and migration: A methodological overview. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews, *Climate Change* 1(4):517–524.

#### Warner, K.

2011 Environmental change and migration: Methodological considerations from ground-breaking global survey. *Population and Environment*, 33(1):3–27.

#### Gender

#### Barbieri, A. F. and C. David

2005 Gender-specific out-migration, deforestation and urbanization in the Ecuadorian Amazon. *Global and Planetary Change*, 47:99–110.

#### Hunter, L. M. and E. David

2011 Displacement, climate change and gender. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.306–330.

#### Jungehülsing, J.

2010 Las que se van, las que se quedan: Reacciones frente al cambio climático un estudio de caso sobre migración y género en Chiapas. Fundación Heinrich Böll, Cuauhtémoc.

#### Neumayer, E. and T. Plümper

2007 The gendered nature of natural disasters: The impact of catastrophic events on the gender gap in life expectancy 1981–2002. Annals of the Association of American Geographers 97(3):551–566.

#### **Governance, Policy and Legal Frameworks**

#### Adger, N. W. et al.

2009 Adapting to Climate Change: Thresholds, Values, Governance. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

#### Arbenz, P.

1994 Umweltflüchtlinge in der schweizerischen asyl- und flüchtlingspolitik. In: Umweltflüchtlinge : Das konfliktpotential von morgen? (Bächler, G., ed.). Agenda Verl, Münster, p.146–153.

#### Bell, D.

2004 Environmental refugees: What rights? Which duties? *Res Publica*, 10:135–152.

#### Bétaille, J.

 2010 Des "réfugiés écologiques" à la protection des "déplacés environnementaux". Eléments du débat juridique en France. Hommes et migrations, 1248(marsavril):144-155.

#### Biermann, F.

2011 Global Environmental Governance and Climate Change-induced Migration. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Biermann, F. and I. Boas

2010 Preparing for a warmer world – towards a global governance system to protect climate refugees. *Global Environmental Politics*, 10(1):60–88.

#### Black, R. et al.

2008 Demographics and Climate Change: Future Trends and Their Policy Implications for Migration. Working Paper T-27. Development Centre on Migration, Globalization and Poverty, University of Sussex, Brighton.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Chemillier-Gendreau, M.

2006 Faut-il un statut international de réfugié écologique? *Revue européenne de Droit de l'Environnement*, (4):446–453.

#### Cournil, C.

- 2006 Les réfugiés écologiques : Quelle(s) protection(s), quel(s) statut(s)? *Revue du Droit Public*, 4:1035–1066.
- 2011 The protection of 'environmental refugees' in international law. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.359–387.

#### Cournil, C. and P. Mazzega

- 2006 Catastrophes écologiques et flux migratoires: Comment protéger les "réfugiés écologiques"? *Revue européenne de Droit de l'Environnement*, (4):417–427.
- 2007 Réflexions prospectives sur une protection juridique des réfugiés. *Revue Européenne des Migrations Internationales*, 23(1):7– 34.

#### Epiney, A.

- 2010 Réfugiés écologiques et droit international. In: *The Right to Life* (Omuschat, C. et al., eds.). Leiden/Boston: Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Liden/Boston, p.317 et seq.
- 2011 Environmental refugees: Aspects of international state responsibility. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p. 388–414.

#### Gemenne, F.

- 2010 Le rôle des cadres normatifs et des organisations internationales. Une conversation avec Jean-François Durieux (HCR) et Philippe Boncour (OIM). Entretien. *Hommes et migrations*, 1248(mars-avril).
- 2011 How they became the human face of climate change. Research and policy interactions in the birth of the 'environmental migration' concept. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p. 225–259.

#### Gonin, P. and V. Lassailly-Jacob

2002 Les réfugiés de l'environnement. Une nouvelle catégorie de migrants forcés? *Revue Européenne des Migrations Internationales*, 18(2):139–160.

#### Hermsmeyer, H. A.

2005 Environmental refugees: A denial of rights. *Working Paper No. 2 Contemporary Topics in Forced Migration*. University of California, San Diego.

#### Hulme, M.

2008 Climate refugees: Cause for a new agreement? Commentary on: "Climate refugees: protecting the future victims of global warming" by Biermann, F. and I. Boas. *Environment*, 50(6):50–54.

#### Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)

1990 Policymakers' Summary of the Potential Impacts of Climate Change (Report from Working Group II). IPCC, Geneva.

#### Johnson, C. A. and K. Krishnamurthy

2010 Dealing with displacement: Can "social protection" facilitate long-term adaptation to climate change? *Global Environmental Change*, 20(4):648–655.

#### Jordan, A.

2011 The European Union: Coordinating Environment and Migration Policies? Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Kälin, W. and N. Schrepfer

2012 Protecting People Crossing Borders in the Context of Climate Change: Normative Gaps and Possible Approaches. UNHCR, Geneva.

#### Kolmannskog, V. and F. Myrstad

2009 Environmental displacement in European asylum law. *European Journal of Migration and Law*, 11(4):313–326.

#### Koser, K.

 2011 Climate change and internal displacement: Challenges to the normative framework. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p. 289–305.

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Kraly, E. P.

1998 Immigration and environment: A framework for establishing a shape possible relationship. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 17(5):421–438.

#### Lopez, A.

2007 The protection of environmentally displaced persons in international law. *Environmental Law*, 37:365–409.

#### Martin, S. F.

- 2010 Climate change, migration and governance. *Global Governance*, 16(3):397–414.
- 2011 Review of legal and political framework which affects migration, including institutional architecture and capacity, and how it is affected by future environmental change. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### McAdam, J.

- 2010 Disappearing states, statelessness and the boundaries of international law.
   In: Climate Change and Displacement: Multidisciplinary Perspectives (McAdam, J. ed.). Hart Publishing, Oxford, p.105–130.
- 2011 Refusing refuge in the pacific: (de) constructing climate-induced displacement in international law. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p. 102–137.
- 2012 Climate Change, Forced Migration, and International Law. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

#### Michelot, A.

2006 Enjeux de la reconnaissance du statut de réfugié écologique pour la construction d'une nouvelle responsabilité internationale. *Revue européenne de Droit de l'Environnement*, 4:428–445.

#### **Nations Unies**

1992 Convention-cadre des nations unies sur les changements climatiques.

#### Pentinat, S. B.

2010 Environmental refugees: Problems and challenges for international law. In: *Le droit international face aux enjeux environnementaux (Société française pour le droit international)*. Pdone, Paris, p.189–206.

#### Penz, P.

2010 International ethical responsibilities to climate change refugees. In: *Climate Change and Displacement: Multidisciplinary Perspectives* (McAdam, J., ed.). Hart Publishing, Oxford, p. 151–173.

#### Piguet, E.

- 2010 Linking climate change, environmental degradation and migration: A methodological overview. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change, 1(4 July/August):517–524.
- 2012 Climate change and migration: A policy brief. *Migration Citizenship Education*. Available from: http://migrationeducation. de/56.0.html (accessed 29 March 2012).

#### Renaud, F. et al.

2011 A decision framework for environmentally induced migration. *International Migration*, 49:e5-e29.

#### Somerville, W.

2011 Environmental Migration Governance: Debate in the European Union. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Stravopoulou, M.

2008 Environmental displacement: The international legal dimensions. In: *Environment, Forced Migration and Social Vulnerability*. Environment, Forced Migration and Social Vulnerability (EFMSN), Bonn.

#### Thielemann, E.

2011 How effective are migration and nonmigration policies that affect forced migration? Government Office for Science, UK.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Warner, K.

2010 Global environmental change and migration: Governance challenges. *Global Environmental Change*, 20(3):402–413.

#### Williams, A.

2008 Turning the tide: Recognizing climate change refugees in international law. *Law and Policy*, 30(4):502–529.

#### Zetter, R.

2009 The role of legal and normative frameworks for the protection of environmentally displaced people. In: *Migration, Environment and Climate Change: Assessing the Evidence* (Laczko, F. et al., eds). International Organization for Migration (IOM), Geneva, p.385–442.

### Livelihoods and Agriculture

#### Deshingkar, P.

2011 Are there examples of remittances being used to build local resilience to environmental change, especially through investment in soil and water conservation or broader agriculture? Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Leighton, M.

2009 Climate Change and Migration: An Examination of Predicted Impacts to Rural Agricultural Communities. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (Gender, Equity and Rural Employment Division).

#### Sachs, J.

2007 Climate change refugees (extended version): As global warming tightens the availability of water, prepare for a torrent of forced migrations. *Scientific American*, 1 June. Available from: www.scientificamerican. com/article.cfm?id=climate-changerefugees-extended (accessed 29 February 2012).

#### **Migration and Health**

#### Barbieri, A. F. and U. Confalonieri

2011 Climate change, migration and health: Exploring potential scenarios of population vulnerability in Brazil. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.49–73.

#### Githeko, A. K. et al.

2000 Climate change and vector-borne diseases: A regional analysis. *Bull. World Health Organ*, 78(9):1136–1147.

#### Kovats, S. and R. Akhtar

2008 Climate, climate change and human health in Asian cities. *Environment and Urbanization*, 20(1):165–175.

#### Patz, J. A. et al.

2005 Impact of regional climate change on human health. *Nature*, 438:310–317.

#### **Migration and Human Security**

#### Bächler, G. (ed.)

1994 Umweltflüchtlinge : Das konfliktpotential von morgen? Agenda Verl, Münster.

#### Bächler, G.

1998 Why environmental transformation causes violence: A synthesis. *Environmental Change and Security Project Report* (4):24–44.

#### Barnett, J.

2003 Security and climate change. *Global Environmental Change*, 13(1):7–17.

#### Bernauer, H. et al.

2011 Environmental Changes and Violent Conflict. Goverment Office for Science, UK.

#### Brauch, H. G.

2010 Climate Change and Mediterranean security: International, National, Environmental and Human Security Impacts for the Euro-Mediterranean Region during the 21st Century. Proposals and Perspectives. European Institute of the Mediterranean, PAPERSIEMed. Available from: www.iemed.org/publicacions/ papers9.pdf.

#### Buhaug, H.

2010 Climate not to blame for African civil wars. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, 107(38): 16477–16482.

#### Burke, M. B. et al.

2009 Warming increases the risk of civil war in Africa. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA*, 106(49):20670– 20674.

#### Clark, W. A. V.

2007 Environmentally induced migration and conflict. Externe Expertise für das WBGU-Hauptgutachten "Welt im Wandel: Sicherheitsrisiko Klimawandel," Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg, p.25.

#### CNA's Military Advisory Board

2007 National Security and the Threat of Climate Change. Centre for Naval Analyses, Alexandria.

#### Elliott, L.

2010 Climate migrations and climate migrants: What threat, whose security. In: *Climate Change and Displacement* (McAdam, J., ed.). Hart Publishing, Oxford, p.176–190.

#### Ericksen, P. et al.

2011 Mapping Hotspots of Climate Change and Food Insecurity in the Global Tropics. CGIAR Research Programme on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS), Copenhagen.

### PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### German Advisory Council on Global Change (WBGU)

2008 World in Transition: Climate Change as a Security Risk. WBGU, Earthscan, London.

#### Hagmann, T.

2005 Confronting the concept of environmentally induced conflict. *Peace, Conflict and Development*, 6(6):1–22.

#### Hahn, M. B. et al.

2009 The livelihood vulnerability index: A pragmatic approach to assessing risks from climate variability and change – a case study in Mozambique. *Global Environmental Change*, 19(1):74–88.

#### Hampshire, K. and S. Randall

1999 Seasonal labour migration strategies in the Sahel: Coping with poverty or optimizing security? *International Journal* of Population Geography, 5:367–385.

#### Harbom, L. et al.

2006 Armed conflict and peace agreements. *Journal of Peace Research*, 43(5):617–631.

#### Homer-Dixon, T. F.

1991 On the threshold: Environmental changes as causes of acute conflict. *International Security*, 16:76–116.

#### Hsiang, S. M. et al.

2011 Civil conflicts are associated with the global climate. *Nature*, 476(7361):438-441.

#### Khadiagala, G. M. and J. M. Mati

2011 Conflict Management Mechanisms in Resource-constrained African Communities. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Kolmannskog, V. O.

2008 Future Floods of Refugees – A Comment on Climate Change, Conflict and Forced Migration. Norwegian Refugee Council, Oslo.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Leighton, M.

2007 Desertification [plus] Migration = Security? Paper developed in preparation for the Desertification and Security Conference Europasaal, Federal Foreign Office, Berlin June 26, 2007.

#### Lohrmann, R.

2000 Migrants, refugees and insecurity: Current threats to peace? *International Migration*, 38(4):3–22.

#### Mason, S. and A. Müller

2008 Les conflits liés aux ressources naturelles sont-ils inévitables? *La vie économique* 9:1–5.

#### Matthew, R. A. et al.

2010 Global Environmental Change and Human Security. MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

#### McLeman, R.

2011 Climate Change, Migration and Critical International Security Considerations. International Organization for Migration (IOM), Geneva.

#### McLeman, R. and B. Smit

- 2005 Assessing the security implications of climate change-related migration. In: *Human Security and Climate Change* (GECHS et al., eds). Asker (Norway), p.19.
- 2006 Changement climatique, migration et sécurité. *Les Cahiers de la sécurité*, 63(4):95–120.

#### Myers, N.

- 1993 Ultimate Security: The Environmental Basis of Political Stability. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- 2005 Environmental Refugees: An Emergent Security Issue. 13th Economic Forum, Prague, 23–27 May. Available from: www. osce.org/eea/14851 (accessed 29 March 2012).

#### Naudé, W.

2008 Conflict, Disasters and No Jobs – Reasons for International Migration from Sub-Saharan Africa. United Nations University – WIDER – Research Paper (85), Bonn.

#### Percival, V. and T. Homer-Dixon

1998 Environmental scarcity and violent conflict: The case of South Africa. *Journal of Peace Research*, 35(3):279–298.

#### Raleigh, C.

2011 The search for safety: The effects of conflict, poverty and ecological influences on migration in the developing world. *Global Environmental Change*, 21, Supplement 1:S82-S93.

#### Raleigh, C. et al.

2008 Assessing the impact of climate change on migration and conflict. In: *Working Paper* for World Bank Programme on "Exploring the Social Dimension of Climate Change". The World Bank, Washington, D.C.

#### Reuveny, R.

- 2007 Climate change-induced migration and violent conflict. *Political Geography*, 26(6):656–673.
- 2008 Ecomigration and violent conflict: Case studies and public policy implications. *Human Ecology*, 36(1):1–13.

#### Salehyan, I.

2008 From climate change to conflict? No consensus yet. *Journal of Peace Research*, 45:315–326.

#### Salehyan, I. and K. S. Gelditsch

2006 Refugees and the spread of civil war. International Organization, 60(2):335–366.

#### Shrestha, S. and P. Bhandari

2007 Environmental security and labour migration in Nepal. *Population and Environment*, 29(1):25–38.

#### Suhrke, A.

1993 Pressure Points: Environmental Degradation, Migration and Conflict. American Academy of Arts and Science, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Timberlake, L.

1983 Environmental Wars and Environmental Refugees: The Political Background to the Cartagena Convention. Earthscan Press Briefing Document 34B, London.

#### Tol, R. S. J. and S. Wagner

2009 Climate change and violent conflict in Europe over the last millennium. *Climate Change*, 99:65–79.

#### **United Nations Secretary-General**

2009 Climate Change and Its Possible Security Implication – Report to the General Assembly – sixty-fourth session. United Nations A/64/350. UNSG, New York.

#### Welzer, H.

2008 *Klimakriege. Wofür im 21*. Jahrhundert getötet wird. S. Fischer, Frankfurt/M.

#### White, G.

2011 *Climate Change and Migration: Security and Borders in a Warming World.* Oxford University Press, Oxford.

#### Zhang, D. D. et al.

2007 Global climate change, war and population decline in recent human history. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA*, 104(49):19214–19219.

### **Relocation/Resettlement**

#### Belcher, J. and F. Bates

1983 Aftermath of natural disasters: Coping through residential mobility. *Demography*, 7(2):118–128.

#### Byravan, S. and S. C. Rajan

2006 Providing new homes for climate change exiles. *Climate Policy*, 6:247–252.

#### De Sherbinin, A. et al.

2011 Preparing for resettlement associated with climate change. *Science*, 334(6055):456–457.

#### Hugo, G.

2011 Lessons from past forced resettlement for climate change migration. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.260–288.

#### Leighton, M.

2012 "Population Displacement, Relocation, and Migration" in *The Law of Adaptation to Climate Change: U.S. and International Aspects* (Michael B. Gerrard and Katrina Fischer Kuh eds.).

#### McLeman, R.

2011 Settlement abandonment in the context of global environmental change. *Global Environmental Change*, Supplement 21:S108–S112.

### Rural-Urban Migration

#### Carr, D.

2009 Population and deforestation: Why rural migration matters. *Progress in Human Geography*, 33:355–378.

#### Deniel, R.

1968 *De la savane à la ville*. Aubier, Paris.

#### Jorgenson, A. and T. Burns

2007 Effects of rural and urban population dynamics and national development on deforestation in less-developed countries, 1990–2000. *Sociological Inquiry*, 77(3):460–482.

#### Leighton, M.

2009 Climate Change and Migration: An Examination of Predicted Impacts to Rural Agricultural Communities. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (Gender, Equity and Rural Employment Division).

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

### Small Island States and Coastal Cities

(See also the Asia and the Pacific section.)

#### Barnett, J.

On the risks of engineering mobility to reduce vulnerability to climate change: Insights from a small island state. In: *Climate Change and Human Mobility* (Hastrup, K. and K. Fog-Olwig, eds). Global Challenges to the Social Sciences. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (forthcoming).

#### Barnett, J. and W. Adger

2003 Climate dangers and atoll countries. *Climatic Change*, 61(3):321–337.

#### Bourquin, N.

2009 Essai de typologie sur les réfugiés de l'environnement des zones côtières et îles basses – mémoire de maîtrise des sciences. Faculté des Géosciences, Lausanne.

#### Connell, J.

2011 Small Island States and Islands: Economies, Ecosystems, Change and Migration. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Costanza, R. et al.

2011 Changes in Ecosystem Services and Migration in Low-lying Coastal Areas Over the Next 50 Years. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Julca, A. and O. Paddison

2010 Vulnerabilities and migration in small island developing states in the context of climate change. *Natural Hazards*, 55(3):717–728.

#### Maas, A. and A. Carius

2011 Creating Space for Action: Options for Small Island States to Cope with Global Environmental Change. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### MacGranahan, G. et al.

2006 Low coastal zone settlements. *Tiempo*, (59):23–26.

2007 The rising tide: Assessing the risks of climate change and human settlements in low elevation coastal zones. *Environment and Urbanization*, 19(17):17–37.

#### Mimura, N. et al.

2007 Small islands. In: Climate Change 2007 – Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (Parry, M. L. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

#### Schmidt, C. W.

2005 Keeping afloat: A strategy for small island nations. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 113(9):A606-A609.

#### Vafeidis, A. et al.

2011 Analysis of Land Area and Population in the Low-elevation Coastal Zone (LECZ). Government Office for Science, UK.

#### **Country Reports and Case Studies**

#### Bilsborrow, R. E.

1992 Rural Poverty, Migration, and Environment in Developing Countries: Three Case Studies. World Bank, Washington, D.C.

#### Entzinger, H. et al.

2010 Le projet EACH-FOR: Migration et environnement. *Hommes et migrations* 1284(mars-avril):10–15.

### Africa

#### Adepoju, A.

2000 Issues and recent trends in international migration in sub-Saharan Africa. International Social Science Journal, 52 (165): 383-394.

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

2005 *Migration in West Africa*. A paper prepared for the policy analysis programme of the global commission on international migration. Human Resources Development Centre, Nigeria.

#### Afifi, T.

- 2008a Egypt: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.
- 2008b Niger: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.
- 2011 Economic or environmental migration? The push factors in Niger. *International Migration*, 49 (1 June): e95–e124.

#### Alvarez Gila, O. et al.

2008 Western Sahara: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Apeldoorn, G.

1981 *Perspectives on Drought and Famine in Nigeria*. George Allen & Unwin Ltd, London.

#### Awuor, C. B. et al.

2008 Climate change and coastal cities: The case of Mombasa, Kenya. *Environment and Urbanization*, 20(1):231–242.

#### Barrios, S. et al.

2006 Climatic change and rural–urban migration: The case of sub-Saharan Africa. *Journal of Urban Economics*, 60(3):357–371.

#### Bassett, T. J. and M. D. Turner

2007 Sudden shift or migratory drift? Fulbe herd movements to the Sudano-Guinean region of West Africa. *Human Ecology*, 35 (1)(February):33–49.

#### Bleibaum, F.

2008 Senegal: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Bocquier, P. and S. Traoré

2000 Urbanisation et dynamique migratoire en Afrique de l'Ouest : La croissance urbaine en panne. L'Harmattan, Paris.

#### Boko, M. et al.

2007 Africa. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II. In: *The Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (M. Parry et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 433–467.

#### de Bruijn, M. and H. van Dijk

2003 Changing population mobility in West Africa: Fulbe pastoralists in Central and South Mali. *African Affairs*, 102 (407) (1 April): 285–307.

#### Boutrais, J.

2007 Crises écologiques et mobilités pastorales au Sahel: Les Peuls du Dallol Bosso (Niger). Science et changements planetaires Secheresse 18(1):5–12.

#### Carr, E. R.

2005 Placing the environment in migration: Environment, economy, and power in Ghana's central region. *Environment and Planning A*, 37(5):925–946.

#### De Haan, A. et al.

2002 Migration, livelihoods and institutions: Contrasting patterns of migration in Mali. *The Journal of Development Studies*, 38(5):37–58.

#### Dillon, A. et al.

2011 Migratory responses to agricultural risk in Northern Nigeria. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 93(4):1048–1061.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Doevenspeck, M.

2011 The thin line between choice and flight: Environment and migration in rural Benin. International Migration, 49:e50-e68.

#### Dossou, K. M. R. and B. Glehouenou-Dossou

2007 The vulnerability to climate change of Cotonou (Benin): The rise in sea level. *Environment and Urbanization*, 19(1):65– 79.

#### Douglas, I. et al.

2008 Unjust waters: Climate change, flooding and the urban poor in Africa. *Environment and Urbanization*, 20(1):187–205.

#### El Raey, M. et al.

2009 Adaptation to the impacts of sea level rise in Egypt. *Climate Research*, 12(27):117– 128.

#### Ezra, M.

- 2001a Demographic responses to environmental stress in the drought- and famine-prone areas of Northern Ethiopia. *International Journal of Population Geography*, 7(4): 259–279.
- 2001b Ecological degradation, rural poverty, and migration in Ethiopia: A contextual analysis. In: *Working Paper 149*. Political research division, Population Council, New York.

#### Ezra, M. and G-E. Kiros

2001 Rural out-migration in the droughtprone areas of Ethiopia: A multilevel analysis. *International Migration Review*, 35(3):749–771.

#### Failler, P. and T. Binet

2010 Sénégal. Les pêcheurs migrants: Réfugiés climatiques et écologiques. *Hommes et migrations* 1248(mars-avril):98–111.

#### Findley, S. E.

1994 Does drought increase migration? A study of migration from rural Mali during the 1983–85 drought. *International Migration Review*, 28(3):539–553.

#### Gray, C.

2011 Soil quality and human migration in Kenya and Uganda. *Global Environmental Change*, 21 (2)(May): 421–430.

#### Gray, C. and V. Mueller

2012 Drought and population mobility in rural Ethiopia. *World Development*, 40 (1) (January): 134–145.

#### Gila, O. A. et al.

2011 Western Sahara: Migration, exile and environment. *International Migration*, 49:e146-e163.

#### Hammer, T.

2004 Desertification and migration: A political ecology of environmental migration in West Africa. In: *Environmental Change and Its Implications for Population Migration* (Unruh, J. D. et al., eds). Kluwer, Dordrecht.

#### Hampshire, K.

2002 Fulani on the move: Seasonal economic migration in the Sahel as a social process. *Journal of Development Studies*, 38(5):15– 36.

#### Hampshire, K. and S. Randall

2000 Pastoralists, agropastoralists and migrants: Interactions between fertility and mobility in northern Burkina Faso. *Population Studies*, 54:247–261.

#### Hamza, M. A. et al.

- 2008 Migration and Environmental Change in Morocco: The Case of Rural Oasis Villages in the Middle Drâa Valley: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.
- 2010 Les oasis du Drâa au Maroc. Rupture des équilibres environnementaux et stratégies migratoires. *Hommes et migrations* 1248(mars-avril):56–69.

#### Haug, R.

2002 Forced migration processes of return and livelihood construction among pastoralists in Northern Sudan. *Disasters*, 26 (1) (March): 70–84.

#### Henry, S. et al.

- 2003 Modelling interprovincial migration in Burkina Faso: The role of sociodemographic and environmental factors. *Applied Geography*, 23(2-3):115–136.
- 2004 The impact of rainfall on the first outmigration: A multilevel event-history analysis in Burkina Faso. *Population and Environment*, 25(5):423–460.

#### Jonsson, G.

- 2009 Comparative Report: African Migration Trends. African Perspectives on Human Mobility Programme, International Migration Institute, Oxford.
- 2010 The Environmental Factor in Migration Dynamics – A Review of African Case Studies. Working Papers 21, International Migration Institute, University of Oxford, Oxford.

#### Juul, K. (ed.)

2002 Post-Drought Migration and the Quest for Recognition: Asserting and Securing of Claims Among Fulani Pastoralists in Northern Senegal. Heinemann, London.

#### Kidane, A.

1989 Demographic consequences of the 1984–1985 Ethiopian famine. *Demography*, 26 (3): 515–522.

#### Kniveton, D. et al.

2011 Agent-based model simulations of future changes in migration flows for Burkina Faso. *Global Environmental Change* 21, Supplement 1(0):S34-S40.

#### Kolmannskog, V.

2009 *Climate Change, Disaster, Displacement and Migration: Initial Evidence from Africa.* New Issues in Refugee Research, 180. UNHCR, Geneva.

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

2010 Climate change, human mobility, and protection: Initial evidence from Africa. *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 29(3):103–119.

#### Konseiga, A.

2006 Household migration decisions as survival strategy: The case of Burkina Faso. *Journal of African Economies* 16(2):198–233.

### Meze-Hausken, E.

2000 Migration caused by climate change: How vulnerable are people in dryland areas? A case study in northern Ethiopia. *Mitigation* and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 5 (4) (December): 379–406.

### Morrissey, J.

2012 Rethinking the "debate on environmental refugees": From "Maximilists and Minimalists" to "Proponents and Critics". Journal of Political Ecology, 19: 36–49. Contextualizing links between migration and environmental change in northern Ethiopia'. In: Climate Change and Human Mobility: Global Challenges to the Social Sciences (Hastrup, K. and K. Vog Olwig, eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (forthcoming).

#### Mortimore, M.

- 1989 Adapting to Drought: Farmers, Famines, and Desertification in West Africa. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- 2010 Adapting to drought in the Sahel: Lessons for climate change. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 1(1):134–143.

#### Mounkaila, H.

- 2002 De la migration circulaire à l'abandon du territoire local dans le Zarmaganda (Niger). *Revue européenne des migrations internationales*, 18(2):161–187.
- 2004 Migration, chefferie et accès aux ressources foncières dans le canton de Torodi (ouest du Niger). *Cahiers d'Outre Mer*, 57(226– 227):137–154.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Otunnu, O.

1992 Environmental refugees in sub-Saharan Africa – causes and effects. *Refuge*, 12(1):11–14.

#### Parnell, S. and R. Walawege

2011 Sub-Saharan African urbanization and global environmental change. *Global Environmental Change* 21, Supplement 1(0):S12-S20.

#### Pedersen, J.

1995 Drought, migration and population growth in the Sahel: The case of the Malian Gourma: 1900–1991. *Population Studies*, 49:111-126.

#### Population and Development Review (unsigned)

2010 Effects of future climate change on crossborder migration in North Africa and India. *Population and Development Review*, 36(2):408–412.

#### Retaillé, D.

1995 Sécheresse, migration, aménagement du territoire en Mauritanie. *Géocarrefour*, 70:5.

#### Richter, R. E.

1998 Umweltflüchtlinge in Afrika. In: *Kampf um die natur* (Scheffran, J. et al., eds). Darmstadt Primus Verlag, p.42–73.

#### Roquet, D.

2008 Partir pour mieux durer: La migration comme réponse à la sécheresse au Sénégal? *Espace, Populations, Sociétés,* 1:37–53.

#### Sall, M. et al.

2011 Climate Change, Adaptation Strategies and Mobility: Evidence from Four Settlements in Senegal. IIED Human Settlements Working Paper 33. International Institute for Environment and Development, London.

#### Scheffran, J. et al.

2012 Migration as a contribution to resilience and innovation in climate adaptation: Social networks and co-development in Northwest Africa. *Applied Geography*, 33:119–127.

#### Schlenker, W. and D. B. Lobel

2010 Robust negative impacts of climate change on African agriculture. *Environmental Research Letters*, 5(1)(January): 1–8.

#### Shongwe, M. et al.

2011 Projected changes in mean and extreme precipitation in Africa under global warming. Part II: East Africa. *Journal of Climate*, 24(14)(July): 3718–3733.

#### Seto, K. C.

2011 Exploring the dynamics of migration to mega-delta cities in Asia and Africa: Contemporary drivers and future scenarios. *Global Environmental Change* 21, Supplement 1(0):S94-S107.

#### Smith, C. et al.

2008 Climate change, migration and agentbased modelling: Modelling the impact of climate change on forced migration in Burkina Faso. In: *Climate Change and Displacement, Forced Migration Review 31* (Couldrey, M. and M. Herson, ed). Forced Migration Review, Oxford.

#### Sporton, D. et al.

1999 Outcomes of social and environmental change in the Kalahari of Botswana: The role of migration. *Journal of Southern African Studies*, 25(3): 441–459.

#### Stal, M.

- 2008 Mozambique: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.
- 2010 Mozambique, inondation et réinstallation: La vallée du Zambèze. *Hommes et migrations* 1248(mars-avril):28–41.

### PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

2011 Flooding and relocation: The Zambezi river valley in Mozambique. *International Migration*, 49:e125-e145.

#### Swift, J.

1973 Disaster and a Sahelian nomad economy. In: Drought in Africa: Report of the 1973 Symposium (Dalby, D. and R. Church, eds). University of London. London.

#### Tacoli, C.

2011 Not Only Climate Change: Mobility, Vulnerability and Socio-economic Transformations in Environmentally Fragile Areas of Bolivia, Senegal and Tanzania. IIED Human Settlements Working Paper 28, International Institute for Environment and Development, London.

#### Tanser, F. C. et al.

2003 Potential effect of climate change on malaria transmission in Africa. *The Lancet*, 362(9398)(November):1792–1798.

#### Thornton, P. K. et al.

2010 Adapting to climate change: Agricultural system and household impacts in East Africa. *Agricultural Systems*, 103: 73–82.

#### United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)

2011 *Climate Change, Conflict and Migration in the Sahel.* UNEP, Geneva.

#### Van der Geest, K.

- 2008a Migration and natural resources scarcity in Ghana. Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.
- 2008b North-south Migration in Ghana: What Role for the Environment? Paper presented at the International Conference on Environment, Forced Migration and Social Vulnerability, Bonn, 9–11 October.
- 2010 Migration agricole et usages durables de la terre dans la zone de transition forêtsavane au Ghana. *Hommes et migrations* 1248(mars-avril):112–127.

2011 North-south migration in Ghana: What role for the environment? *International Migration*, 49(S1):69–94.

#### Van der Geest, K. et al.

2010 Migration and environment in Ghana: A cross-district analysis of human mobility and vegetation dynamics. *Environment and Urbanization*, 22(1):107–123.

#### Warner, K. et al.

2011 Environmental change and forced migration scenarios: Methods and findings from the Nile delta, Sahel and Mekong delta. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.188-221.

#### Wouterse, F. and M. van den Berg

2004 Migration for survival or accumulation: Evidence from Burkina Faso. In: 85th EAAE Seminar: Agricultural Development and Rural Poverty Under Globalization: Asymmetric Processes and Differentiated Outcomes. Wageningen UR.

#### Americas

#### Adamo, S. and A. de Sherbinin

2011 The impact of climate change on the spatial distribution of the population and on migration. In: *Population Distribution, Urbanization, Internal Migration and Development: An International Perspective* (UN Population Division). UNDESA, New York, p.191–195.

#### Alscher, S.

- 2010 Ile d'Hispaniola. Des voisins inégaux confrontés à des défis semblables: Dégradation environnementale et migration. Hommes et migrations, 1248(mars-avril):84–97.
- 2011 Environmental degradation and migration on Hispaniola Island. *International Migration*, 49:e164-e188.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Alscher, S. and T. Faist

- 2008a Environmental Factors in Mexican Migration: The Cases of Chiapas and Tlaxcala. Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.
- 2008b Ecuador: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Alvarez Gila, O. et al.

2008 Ecuador: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Andersen, L. et al.

2011 Migration and climate change. In: *Reducing Poverty, Protecting Livelihoods, and Building Assets in a Changing Climate: Social Implications of Climate Change of Latin America and Caribbean.* World Bank, Washington, D.C.

#### André, M.

2011 The earthquake in Chile. In: *The State of Environmental Migration 2010* (Piguet, E. et al., eds), IDDRI Sciences Po and IOM, Paris, p.49–56.

#### Arenstam Gibbons, S. J. and R. J. Nicholls

2006 Island abandonment and sea-level rise: An historical analogy from the Chesapeake bay, USA. *Global Environmental Change*, 16(1):40–47.

#### Balderrama Mariscal, C. et al.

2011 Rural Migration in Bolivia: The Impact of Climate Change, Economic Crisis and State Policy. IIED Human Settlements Working Paper, (31):45. International Institute for Environment and Development, London.

#### Barbieri, A. et al.

2010 Climate change and population migration in Brazil's northeast: Scenarios for 2025– 2050. *Population and Environment*, 31(5):344–370.

#### Berrigner, A. C. S.

2012 Climate change and emigration: comparing "sinking islands" and Jamaica. *Miradas en movimento* (Special Volume Naturally Immigrants): 106-120.

#### Butzer, R. et al.

2002 Intersectoral migration in Venezuela. Economic Development and Cultural Change, 50(2):227–248.

#### Capellini, N. et al.

2011 Patterns of environmental migration in Brazil: three case studies. In: *The State of Environmental Migration* (F. Gemenne et al., eds). IDDRI Sciences Po and International Organization for Migration (IOM), Paris, p.87–110.

#### Catanese, A.

1999 *Haitians – Migration and Diaspora,* Westview Press, Boulder.

#### Cohen, I. S. et al.

2012 Forced migration, climate change, mitigation and adaptive policies in Mexico: Some functional relationships. International Migration: 1-20.

#### Confalonieri, U.

2003 Variabilidade climática, vulnerabilidade social e saúde no. Brasil. *Terra Livre*, I(20):193–204.

#### Cutter, S. L.

2011 *The Katrina Exodus: Internal Displacements and Unequal Outcomes.* Government Office for Science, UK.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Damas, D.

2002 Arctic Migrants, Arctic Villagers: The Transformation of Inuit Settlement in the Central Arctic. McGill-Queen's University Press, Montreal and Kingston/London/ Ithaca.

#### Deprez, A.

2010 Climate Migration in Latin America: A Future "Flood of Refugees" to the North? Council on Hemispheric Affairs (COHA), Washington, D.C.

#### Durrer, P.

2011 Global Warming Issues Are Here: Ethnography of a Motionless Relocation in Kivalina, Alaska. Université de Neuchâtel, Neuchâtel.

#### Durrer, P. and E. J. Adams

2011 Finding ways to move: The challenges of relocation in Kivalina, northwest Alaska. In: North by 2020: Perspectives on Alaska's Changing Social-ecological System (Lovecraft, A. L. and H. Eicken, eds). The University of Alaska Press, Fairbanks, p.265–268.

#### Eakin, H.

2005 Institutional change, climate risk, and rural vulnerability: Cases from Central Mexico. *World Development*, 33:1932–1938.

#### Escobar, H. et al.

2006 Pobreza, desastres naturales y migración en la regiones istmo-costa, sierra y soconusco de Chiapas. *Observatorio de la Economía Latinoamericana*, 70:1–22.

#### Esnard, A. et al.

2011 An index of relative displacement risk to hurricanes. *Natural Hazards*, 59(2):833–59.

#### Faist, T. and S. Alscher

2008 Hispaniola Island, Dominican Republic and Haiti: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Feng, S. et al.

- 2010 Linkages among climate change, crop yields and Mexico–US cross-border migration. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 106(32):14257–14262.
- 2012 Climate Change, Crop Yields, and Internal Migration in the United States. NBER Working Paper No. 17734, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

#### Franke, C. R. et al.

2002 Impact of the El Niño: Southern oscillation on visceral leishmaniasis, Brazil. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 8(9):914–917.

#### Frey, A. E. et al.

2010 The impact of climate change on hurricane flooding inundation, population affected, and property damages. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 46(5):1049–1059.

#### Frey, W. and A. Singer

2010 Demographic dynamics and natural disasters: learning from Katrina and Rita. *Population and Environment*, 31(1):1–2.

#### Friesen, T. M.

2010 Dynamic Inuit social strategies in changing environments: a long-term perspective. *Geografisk Tidsskrift-Danish Journal of Geography*, 110(2): 215–225.

#### Fussell, E. et al.

2010 Race, socioeconomic status, and return migration to New Orleans after Hurricane Katrina. *Population and Environment*, 31(1):20–42.

#### Gilbert, G. and R. McLeman

2010 Household access to capital and its effects on drought adaptation and migration: A case study of rural Alberta in the 1930s. *Population and Environment*, 32(1):3–26.

#### Gosine, A.

1996 Roots of flight: Environmental refugees in Latin America – A response to analysis by Homer-Dixon. *Refuge*, 15(2):27–32.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Gray, C. L.

2009 Environment, land, and rural out-migration in the southern Ecuadorian Andes. *World Development*, 37(2):457–468.

#### Gütermann, N. and E. Schneider

2011 The earthquake in Haiti. In: *The State of Environmental Migration 2010* (Piguet, EGemenne, F. et al., eds), IDDRI Sciences Po and IOM, Paris, p.39–48.,

#### Gutmann, M. and V. Field

2010 Katrina in historical context: Environment and migration in the US. *Population and Environment*, 31(1):3–19.

#### Gutmann, M. P. et al.

2005 Two population-environment regimes in the Great Plains of the United States, 1930–1990. *Population and Environment*, 27(2):191–225.

#### Halliday, T. J.

2006 Migration, risk and liquidity constraints in El Salvador. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 54(4):893–925.

#### Hanson, G. H. and C. McIntosh

2009 The demography of Mexican migration to the US. *American Economic Review*, 99:22–27.

#### Hartman, C. and G. D. Squires (eds)

2006 There Is No Such Thing as a Natural Disaster: Race, Class, and Hurricane Katrina. Routledge, London.

#### Héctor, E. et al.

2006 Pobreza, desastres naturales y migración en la regiones istmo-costa, sierra y soconusco de Chiapas. *Observatorio de la Economía Latinoamericana*, 70.

#### Hernandez, J.

2009 The long way home : Une catastrophe qui se prolonge à la Nouvelle-Orléans, trois ans après le passage de l'ouragan Katrina. *L'Espace géographique*, 38(2):124–138.

#### Hoffmann, D.

2008 Consecuencias cel retroceso glaciar en la cordillera Boliviana. *Pirineos*, 163:77–84.

#### Hsiang, S. M.

2010 Temperatures and cyclones strongly associated with economic production in the Caribbean and Central America. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 107:15367–15372.

#### Irianni, M. et al.

2008 Argentina: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Janvry, A. D. et al.

1997 Determinants of Mexico–U.S. Migration: The Role of Household Assets and Environmental Factors. Department of Agricultural & Resource Economics, UC Berkeley, Berkeley.

#### Jungehülsing, J.

2010 Las que se van, las que se quedan: reacciones frente al cambio climático: Un estudio de caso sobre migración y género en Chiapas. H.B. Stifung, Mexico.

#### Kaenzig, R.

2011 Bolivian Andes: from climate change to human displacements? In: *Managing Alpin Future II: Inspire and Drive Sustainable Mountain Regions.* (Proceedings of the Innsbruck Conference 21–23 November, 2011, Borsdorf, A. et al., eds). Austrian Academy of Sciences, p.47–57.

#### Kaenzig, R. and E. Piguet

- 2011a Migração e mudança climática em America Latina. Revista Interdisciplinar da Mobilidade Humana (REMHU). Brasil, XIX(36):49–74.
- 2011b Migrations et changement climatique en Amérique latine : Quels enjeux? Vertigo - Revue Electronique en Sciences de l'Environnement[En ligne], 11(3).

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Kahn, A. S. and R. T. Campus

1992 Effects of drought on agricultural sector of northeast Brazil. Presented at ICID, Fortaleza, Brazil.

#### Kostigen, T. M.

2008 Distant consequences: Shishmaref village, Alaska. In: You Are Here: Exposing the Vital Link between What We Do and What that Does to Our Planet. HarperOne, New York, p.81–101.

#### Lerner, J.

2011 Lessons to Learn from Curitiba – Fastest Urbanization Rate with a Higher Standard of Living than its Neighbours. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Li, W. et al.

2010 Katrina and migration: Evacuation and return by African-Americans and Vietnamese-Americans in an eastern New Orleans suburb. *The Professional Geographer*, 62(1):103–118.

#### Marino, E.

2012 The long history of environmental migration: Assessing vulnerability construction and obstacles to successful relocation in Shishmaref, Alaska. *Global Environmental Change*, 22:374–381.

#### Marino, E. and P. Schweitzer

2009 Talking and not talking about climate change in Northwestern Alaska. In: *Anthropology and Climate Change: From Encounters to Actions* (Crate, S.A. and M. Nuttall, eds). Left Coast Press, Walnut Creek, p.2009–2217.

#### Mark, B. G. et al.

2010 Climate change and tropical Andean glacier recession: Evaluating hydrologic changes and livelihood vulnerability in the cordillera Blanca, Peru. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 100(4):794–805.

#### Mariscal, C. et al.

2011 Rural Migration in Bolivia: The Impact of Climate Change, Economic Crisis and State Policy. Human Settlement Working Paper Series. Rural–urban interactions and livelihood strategies. International Institute for Environment and Development, London.

#### McClintock, S. E.

2009 *Coastal and Riverine Erosion Challenges: Alaskan Villages' Sustainability.* Series: Climate change and Arctic sustainable development: Scientific, social, cultural and educational challenges. UNESCO, Paris, 9.120–130.

#### McIntyre, D. L. and J. R. Weeks

2002 Environmental impact of illegal immigration on the Cleveland National Forest in California. *The Professional Geographer*, 54(3):392–405.

#### McIntyre, N.

2009 Rethinking amenity migration: Integrating mobility, lifestyle and social-ecological systems. *Erde*, 140(3):229–50.

#### McLeman, R.

- 2006 Migration out of 1930s rural eastern Oklahoma: Insights for climate change research. *Great Plains Quarterly,* (26):1.
- 2010 Impacts of population change on vulnerability and the capacity to adapt to climate change and variability: A typology based on lessons from "a hard country". *Population and Environment* 31(5):286–316.

#### McLeman, R. and L. Hunter

2010 Migration in the context of vulnerability and adaptation to climate change: insights from analogues. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, 1(3): 450–461.

#### McLeman, R. and S. Ploeger

2011 Soil and its influence on rural drought migration: Insights from depression-era Southwestern Saskatchewan, Canada. *Population and Environment*:1–29.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### McLeman, R. et al.

- 2008 Drought adaptation in rural eastern Oklahoma in the 1930s: Lessons for climate change adaptation research. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 13(4):379–400.
- 2010 GIS-based modelling of drought and historical population change on the Canadian Prairies. *Journal of Historical Geography*, 36(1): 43–56.

#### Munshi, K.

2003 Networks in the modern economy: Mexican migrants in the US labour market. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 118(2):549–599.

#### Myers, C. et al.

2008 Social vulnerability and migration in the wake of disaster: The case of Hurricanes Katrina and Rita. *Population and Environment*:1–29.

#### Nagy, G. J. et al.

2006 Understanding the Potential Impact of Climate Change and Variability in Latin America and the Caribbean. Report prepared for the Stern Review on the Economics of Climate Change.

#### Newland, K. and D. Papademetriou

2011 What would be the long-term (25–50 years) impact on the global migration system – and, specifically, on environmental migration – if, for whatever reason, people no longer wanted to gain entry to the USA. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Orlove, B.

2005 Human adaptation to climate change: a review of three historical cases and some general perspectives. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 8:589–600.

#### Plyer, A. et al.

2010 Using administrative data to estimate population displacement and resettlement following a catastrophic US disaster. *Population and Environment*, 31(1):150–75.

#### Poston, D. et al.

2009 The effect of climate change on migration: United States, 1995–2000. *Social Science Research*, 38:743–53.

#### Radel, C. et al.

2010 Environment, transnational labour migration, and gender: Case studies from southern Yucatan, Mexico and Vermont, USA. *Population and Environment*, 32(2–3):177–97.

#### Rhoades, R.

2008 Disappearance of the glacier on Mama Cotacachi: Ethnoecological research and climate change in the Ecuadorian Andes. *Pirineos,* (163):37–50.

#### Robinson, A. et al.

1961 A correlation and regression analysis applied to rural farm population densities in the Great Plains. *Annals of the Association* of American Geographers, 51:211–221.

#### Rosenzweig, C. and D. Hillel

2008 Climate Variability and the Global Harvest: Impacts of El Niño and Other Oscillations on Agro-ecosystems. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

#### Ross, L. R.

2010 *Climate Change and Immigration: Warnings for America's Southern Border.* American Security Project, Washington, D.C.

#### Saldaña-Zorrilla, S. and K. Sandberg

2009 Impact of climate-related disasters on human migration in Mexico: A spatial model. *Climatic Change*, 96(1):97–118.

#### Sastry, N.

2009 Displaced New Orleans residents in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina: Results from a pilot survey. *Organization and Environment*, 22(4):395–409.

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Schmidt-Verkerk, K.

2009 The potential influence of changing precipitation and temperature patterns on migratory behaviour in the state of Zacatecas, Mexico. In: *Linking Environmental Change, Migration and Social Vulnerability* (Oliver-Smith, A. et al., eds). Publication Series of UNU-EHS – Source 12, Bonn, p.51–60.

#### Schwartz, M. L. and J. Notini

1994 Desertification and Migration: Mexico and the United States. Research Paper, US Commission on Immigration Reform, San Francisco.

#### Simms, A. and R. Hannah

2006 Up in Smoke? Latin America and the Caribbean: The Threat from Climate Change to the Environment and Human Development. The third report from the Working Group on Climate Change and Development. New Economics Foundation/ IIED/Progressio, London.

#### Smith, S. and C. McCarty

- 1996 Demographic effects of natural disasters: A case study of Hurricane Andrew. Demography, 33(2): 265–275.
- 2009 Fleeing the storm(s): An examination of evacuation behavior during Florida's 2004 hurricane season. *Demography*, 46(1):127– 45.

#### Squalli, J.

2009 Immigration and environmental emissions: A US county-level analysis. *Population and Environment*, 30(6):247–60.

#### Stringfield, J.

2010 Higher ground: an exploratory analysis of characteristics affecting returning populations after Hurricane Katrina. *Population and Environment*, 31(1):43–63.

# United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO)

2009 *Climate Change and Arctic Sustainable Development.* UNESCO Publishing, Paris.

#### Valdivia, C. et al.

2010 Adapting to climate change in Andean ecosystems: Landscapes, capitals, and perceptions shaping rural livelihood strategies and linking knowledge systems. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 100(4):818–834.

#### Young, K. R. and J. K. Lipton

2006 Adaptive governance and climate change in the tropical highlands of western South America. *Climatic Change*, 78:63–102.

#### Wrathall, D. J.

2008 The Role of Entitlements in Shaping the Migration Behavious of Vulnerable People: A Conceptual Model Based on Lessons from Hurricane Mitch in Honduras. UNU Conference Paper, King's College London.

#### Asia and the Pacific

(See also the Small Island States and Coastal Cities section.)

#### Alam, S.

2003 Environmentally induced migration from Bangladesh to India. *Strategic Analysis*, 27:422–438.

#### Asian Development Bank

2012 Addressing Climate Change and Migration in Asia and the Pacific. ADB, Manila.

#### Asia-Pacific Network for Global Change Research (APN)

2003 Global Change Impact Assessment for Himalayan Mountain Regions: Resource Management and Sustainable development, Final Report. APN, Kathmandu. Available from: http://apn-gcr.org/newAPN/ resources/projectBulletinOutputs/ finalProjectReports/2003/2003-03.pdf (accessed 26 July 2012).

#### Azad, S. N. et al.

2011 Workshop Bangladesh, Low Elevation Coastal Zones and Islands 3–4 February, Dhaka. Government Office for Science, UK.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Banerjee, S. et al.

2011 Labour migration as a Response Strategy to Water Hazards in the Hindu Kush-Himalayas. International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development, Kathmandu.

> Mountain regions: The changing Himalayas: Migration and environmental change. In: *People on the Move in a Changing Climate: Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Springer, Heidelberg (forthcoming).

#### Barnett, J.

2005 Titanic states? Impacts and responses to climate change in the Pacific Islands. *Journal of International Affairs*, 59(1):203– 219.

#### Barnett, J. and J. Campbell

2010 Climate Change and Small Island States: Power, Knowledge and the South Pacific. Routledge, London.

#### Bedford, R. D.

1992 International migration in the South Pacific region. In: *International Migration Systems: A Global Approach* (Kritz, M. M. et al., eds). Clarendon Press, Oxford, p.41–62.

#### Bedford, R. D. and C. E. Bedford

2010 International migration and climate change: A post-Copenhagen perspective on options for Kiribati and Tuvalu, In: *Climate Change and Migration in the South Pacific Region: Policy Perspectives* (Burson, B. ed), Institute for Policy Studies, Victoria University of Wellington, p.89–134.

#### Bedford, R. D. and G. Hugo

2012 Population Movement in the Pacific: A Perspective on Future Prospects, Department of Labour, Wellington.

#### Bedford, R. D. et al.

Migration and climate change in the Pacific: An overview. In: *Social Implications of Climate Change in the Pacific* (Naidu, V., ed). USP and UNESCO, Suva (forthcoming).

#### Bohra-Mishra, P. and D. S. Massey

2011 Environmental degradation and outmigration: New evidence from Nepal. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.74–101.

#### Britton, N. R.

1987 Disaster in the South Pacific: Impact of tropical cyclone "Namu" on the Solomon Islands, May 1986. *Disasters*, 11(2): 120–133.

#### Bulesheva, D. and A. Joldasov

2008 Kazakhstan: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Byg, A. and J. Salick

2009 Local perspectives on a global phenomenon – climate change in eastern Tibetan villages. *Global Environmental Change*, 19(2):156–166.

#### Cagilaba, V.

2005 Fight or Flight? Resilience and Vulnerability in Rural Fiji. MSocSci Thesis, Department of Geography. University of Waikato, Hamilton: p.123.

#### Campbell, J.

- 1985 Dealing with Disaster: Hurricane Response in Fiji. Government of Fiji and Pacific Islands Development Programme, East-West Centre, Suva and Honolulu.
- 2006 Traditional Disaster Reduction in Pacific Island Communities, GNS Science Report 2006/038. Wellington, Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences.

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

- 2010a Climate-induced community relocation in the Pacific: The meaning and importance of land. In: *Climate Change and Displacement: Multidisciplinary Perspectives* (McAdam, J., ed). Hart Publishing, Oxford, p.57–79.
- 2010b Climate change and population movement in Pacific island countries. In: *Climate Change and Migration in the South Pacific Region: Policy Perspectives* (Burson, B., ed.). Institute of Policy Studies, Wellington. pp. 29–50.
- 2011 Climate change and population displacement. In: *Population and Development in the Pacific Islands* (Narsey, W. et al., eds). UNFPA and USP, Suva, p.320–341.

Overview of climate change related migration in the Pacific. In: Social Implications of Climate Change in the Pacific (Naidu, V., ed). USP and UNESCO, Suva (forthcoming)

#### Campbell, J. et al.

2005 Community Relocation as the Option for Adaptation to the Effects of Climate Change and Climate Variability in Pacific Island Countries (PICs). Asia-Pacific Network for Global Change Research, Kobe.

#### Centre for Ethnic and Migration Studies (CEDEM)

- 2008a *China "Forced Migration and the Three-Gorges Dam": Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project.* United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.
- 2008b Environment Change and Forced Migration (EACH-FOR) Scenarios – General Overview Study NIS and Central Asia. CEDEM for European Commission, Brussels.

#### Chen, M. et al.

2007 Key natural impacting factors of China's human population distribution. *Population and Environment*, 28:187–200.

#### Connell, J.

- 1990 The Carteret Islands: Precedents of the greenhouse effect? *Geography Compass*, 75:152–154.
- 1999 Environmental change, economic development, and emigration in Tuvalu. *Pacific Studies*, 22:1–20.

#### Coudrain, A. et al.

2005 Glacier shrinkage in the Andes and consequences for water resources. *Hydrological Sciences*, 50(6):925–932.

#### Datta, A.

2011 A Review on the Potential Risks Associated with Development of New Eco-cities in India in Relation to Climate Risks/Urbanization. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Datta, P.

2004 Push-pull factors of undocumented migration from Bangladesh to West Bengal: A perception study. *The Qualitative Report*, 9(2):335–358.

#### Dun, O.

- 2008 Vietnam Linkages between Flooding, Migration and Resettlement: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.
- 2011 Migration and displacement triggered by floods in the Mekong delta. *International Migration*, 49:e200-e223.

#### Farbotko, C.

2005 Tuvalu and climate change: constructions of environmental displacement in the Sydney Morning Herald. *Geografiska Annaler*, 89B:279–293.

#### Farbotko, C. and H. Lazrus

2012 The first climate refugees? Contesting global narratives of climate change in Tuvalu. *Global Environmental Change*. Unpublished (Available online).

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Fernando, N. and A. G. Punchihewa

2011 *Lessons Learnt from the 2004 Indian Ocean Tsunami.* Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Findlay, A. and A. Geddes

2011 Critical views on the relationship between climate change and migration: Some insights from the experience of Bangladesh. In: *Migration and Climate Change* (Piguet, E. et al., eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p.138–159.

#### Gemenne, F.

2010 Tuvalu, un laboratoire du changement climatique ? (Tuvalu, a laboratory of climate change?). *Tiers Monde(Third World)*, 4(204):89–107.

#### Gemenne, F. and S. Shen

2008 Tuvalu and New Zealand: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Ghobadi, N. et al.

2005 Moving Out of Poverty: Migration Insights from Rural Afghanistan. Working Paper Series. Afghanistan Research and Evaluation Unit (AREU), Kabul.

#### Grote, U. et al.

2006 Migration Due to the Tsunami in Sri Lanka – Analysing Vulnerability and Migration at the Household Level. Centre for Development Research (ZEF), Bonn.

#### Haque, C. E.

1997 Hazards in a Fickle Environment: Bangladesh. Kluwer Academic Publisher, Dodrecht.

#### Heinonen, U.

2006 Environmental impact on migration in Cambodia: Water-related migration from the Tonle Sap lake region. *International Journal of Water Resources Development*, 22(3):449–462.

#### Hoermann, B. et al.

2010 Labour migration for development in the western Hindu Kush-Himalayas. ICIMOD, Kathmandu.

#### Hugo, G.

2010 Climate change-induced mobility and the existing migration regime in Asia and the Pacific. In: *Climate Change and Displacement: Multidisciplinary Perspectives*. Hart Publishing, Oxford, p.9–36.

#### Hyndman, J.

2007 The securitization of fear in post-tsunami Sri Lanka. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 97(2):361–372.

#### International Displacement Monitoring Centre (IDMC)

2006 Bangladesh: Minorities increasingly at risk of displacement. A profile of the internal displacement situation. IDMC. Available from: www.unhcr.org/refworld/ docid/44292f664.html (accessed 3 April 2012).

#### International Organization for Migration (IOM)

2012 Environmental Degradation, Migration, Internal Displacement and Rural Vulnerabilities in Tajikistan. IOM, Dushanbe.

#### Islam, M.

1992 Natural calamities and environmental refugees in Bangladesh. *Refuge*, 12(1):5–10.

#### Jülich, S.

2011 Drought-triggered temporary migration in an East Indian village. *International Migration*, 49:e189-e199.

#### Karim, M. F. and N. Mimura

2008 Impacts of climate change and sea-level rise on cyclonic storm surge floods in Bangladesh. *Global Environmental Change*, 18:490–500.

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Khakimov, P. S. and M. S. Mahmadbekov

2008 Republic of Tajikistan: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Lallemant, H. R.

2009 L'apatridie climatique et la disparition d'états dans le pacifique sud. *Revue Juridique Polynésienne,* (15):77–93.

#### Lein, H.

2000 Hazards and 'forced migration' in Bangladesh. Norwegian Journal of Geography, 54:122–127.

#### Locke, J.

2009 Climate change-induced migration in the Pacific region: Sudden crisis and long-term developments. *The Geographical Journal*, 175(3):1–10.

#### Ma, Z. and K. Liaw

1997 Explaining hierarchical and interprovincial migrations of Chinese young adults by personal factors and place attributes:
 A nested logit analysis. *Mathematical Population Studies*, 6(3):217–239.

#### Mahajan, D. et al.

2008 Climate Change-Induced Migration and its Security Implications in India's Neighbourhood. Project Report No. 2008RS10. The Energy and Resources Institute (TERI), New Delhi.

#### Malaysia, S. A.

1992 Environmental displacement in Malaysia – The effects of the development process on rural and natives communities. *Refuge*, 12(1):15–19.

#### Massey, D. S. et al.

2007 Environmental Change and Out-migration: Evidence from Nepal. Population Studies Centre Research Report (07 - 615), University of Michigan, Michigan.

#### Moore, E. and J. W. Smith

1995 Climatic change and migration from Oceania: Implications for Australia, New Zealand and the United States. *Population and Environment*, 17(2):105–122.

#### Mortreux, C. and J. Barnett

2009 Climate change, migration and adaptation in Funafuti, Tuvalu. *Global Environmental Change*, 19(1):105-112.

#### Naik, A. et al.

2007 Migration, Development and Natural Disasters: Insights from the Indian Tsunami. International Organization for Migration (IOM), Geneva.

#### Nasritdinov, E. et al.

- 2008 *Kyrgyzstan: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project.* United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.
- 2010 Kirghizistan. Un scénario où ceux qui partent perdent autant que ceux qui résistent. *Hommes et migrations*, 1248(mars-avril):70–83.

#### O'Collins, M.

1990 Carteret Islanders at the atolls resettlement scheme: A response to land loss and population growth. In: *Implications of Expected Climate Changes in the South Pacific Region: An Overview* (Pernetta, J. and P. Hughes, eds). United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi, 247–269.

#### Özerdem, A.

2006 The mountain tsunami: Afterthoughts on the Kashmir earthquake. *Third World Quarterly*, 27(3):397–419.

#### Paul, B. K.

2005 Evidence against disaster-induced migration: The 2004 tornado in northcentral Bangladesh. *Disasters*, 29(4):370– 385.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Penning-Rowsell, E. et al.

2011 Population Movement in Response to Climate-related Hazards in Bangladesh: The 'Last Resort'. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Poncelet, A.

- 2008 The Land of Mad Rivers: Bangladesh Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.
- 2010 Bangladesh, un pays fait de catastrophes. La vulnérabilité environnementales et la migration forcée. *Hommes et migrations* 1284(mars-avril):16–27.

#### Revi, A.

2008 Climate change risk: An adaptation and mitigation agenda for Indian cities. *Environment and Urbanization*, 20(1):207– 229.

#### Robinson, C. W.

2000 Famine in slow motion: A case study of internal displacement in North Korea. *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 19(2):15.

#### Sharma, J. R.

2011 The Impact of Environmental Change on Labour Migration from Nepal to the Gulf States. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Shen, S. and F. Gemenne

2011 Contrasted views on environmental change and migration: The case of Tuvaluan migration to New Zealand. *International Migration*, 49:e224-e242.

#### Shrestha, S. and P. Bhandari

2007 Environmental security and labour migration in Nepal. *Population and Environment*, 29:25–38.

#### Stein, M.

1998 The Three Gorges: The unexamined toll of development-induced displacement. *Forced Migration Review 1*(January–April), Oxford.

#### Stojanov, R. and J. Novosák

2006 Environmental migration in China. *Geographica*, 39:65–82.

#### Suleri, A. and K. Savage

2006 *Remittances in Crises: A Case Study from Pakistan*. An humanitarian policy group background paper. Overseas Development Institute, London.

#### Waddell, E.

- 1975 How the Enga cope with frost: Responses to climatic perturbations in the Central Highlands of New Guinea. *Human Ecology*, 3(4): 249–273.
- 1989 Observations on the 1972 frosts and subsequent relief programme among the Enga of the Western Highlands. *Mountain Research and Development*, 9(3): 210–223.

#### Walsham, M.

2010 Assessing the evidence: Environment, Climate Change and Migration in Bangladesh. International Organization for Migration (IOM), Geneva.

#### Wohlt, P.

1989 Migration from Yumbisa, 1972–1975. Mountain Research and Development, 9(3): 224–234.

#### Yan, T. and Y. Q. Wang

2004 Environmental migration and sustainable development in the upper reaches of the Yangtze River. *Population and Environment*, 25(6):613–636.

#### Yang, H. et al.

2004 Environmental–economic interaction and forces of migration: A case study of three counties in northern China. In: *Environmental Change and its Implications for Population Migration* (Unrul, J.D. et al. eds). Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, p.267–288.

# PEOPLE ON THE MOVE IN A CHANGING CLIMATE:

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Zhang, H. X. et al.

2006 Migration in a transitional economy: Beyond the planned and spontaneous dichotomy in Vietnam. *Geoforum*, 37(6):1066–1081.

#### Zhang, Q.

- 2008 *China (Inner Mongolia): Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project*. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.
- 2010 Mongolie intérieure. Désertification, migration et transformation des modes de vie. *Hommes et migrations*, 1248(marsavril):42–55.

### Europe

#### Abel, G. J. et al.

2011 Model Specification and Results of Bayesian Forecasts of Total and Environmental Immigration to the United Kingdom, 2010– 2060. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Andras, V.

2008 The Balkans: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Brauch H. G.

2006 Desertification and Migration. From Almeria I to Almeria II: Achievements and Policy Tasks. International Symposium on Desertification and Migration, Almeria, Spain 25–27 October 2006. Afes Press. Available from: www.afes-press.de/html/ download\_hgb.html.

#### Burke, S. M. et al.

2011 Quantifying change in ecosystem services and exposure to hazards in the Mediterranean basin over the next 50 years that might be relevant to migration. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Casado-Diaz, M. A. et al.

2004 Northern European retired residents in nine southern European areas: Characteristics, motivations and adjustment. *Ageing and Society*, 24(03):353–381.

#### Crawley, P. H.

2011 Past UK Experience of the Arrival of Populations Displaced by Extreme Events. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Fermin, A.

2008 Migration, Environment and Development in Southeastern Spain: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Fermin, A. and I. Molodikova

2008 The Volga River Basin: The Russian Federation: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Fielding, A. J.

2011 The impacts of environmental change on UK internal migration. *Global Environmental Change*, 21(S1):S121–S130.

#### Gordon, I. R. and I. Molho

1998 A multi-stream analysis of the changing pattern of interregional migration in Great Britain. *Regional Studies*, 32(4):309.

#### Goria, A.

1999 Impacts of climate change on migration in the Mediterranean basin: environmental dimension of South-North migration and directions for future policies. In: *Proceedings of the Conference on the Impacts of Climate Change on the Mediterranean Area: Regional Scenarios and Vulnerability Assessment*, Venice, 9–10 December, 1999. Venice, Italy, pp.10–25.

Comparing the Impact of Environmental Change on Migration in Different Regions of the World

#### Haas, H. D.

2011 Mediterranean migration futures: Patterns, drivers and scenarios. *Global Environmental Change*, 21S:S59–S69.

#### Hansen, R.

2011 *The European Union's Role in Migration up to 2030 and then 2060.* Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Huber, A. and K. O'Reilly

2004 The construction of Heimat under conditions of individualized modernity: Swiss and British elderly migrants in Spain. *Ageing and Society*, 24(03):327–351.

#### Kabat, P. et al.

2009 Dutch coasts in transition. *Nature Geoscience*, (2):450–452.

#### Kadirbeyoglu, Z.

2008 Turkey: Case Study Report for the EACH-FOR Project. United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security (UNU-EHS), Bonn.

#### Zihnioglu, O.

2011 *Mediterranean Workshop Report.* Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Zryd, A.

2008 Les glaciers en mouvement: La population des alpes face aux changements climatiques. Presses polytechniques et universitaires romandes, Lausanne.

### **Middle East**

#### Adoho, F. and Q. Wodon

2012 Perceptions of Climate Change, Extreme Weather Events, and Migration in the Middle East and North Africa. Mimeo, World Bank, Washington, D.C.

#### Icduygu, A. and D. Sert

2011 International Migration in the Mashriq Countries: Past Trends, Future Potentials and Determinants – Possible Implications for Environmental Migration? Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Joseph, G. and Q. Wodon

2012 Is internal migration in Yemen driven by climate or socio-economic factors? Results from a gravity model, Mimeo. The World Bank, Washington, D.C.

#### Joseph, G. et al.

- 2012a Do remittances reach households living in unfavourable climate areas? Evidence from Yemen. Mimeo. The World Bank, Washington, D.C.
- 2012b Is climate change likely to lead to higher net internal migration in Yemen?, Mimeo. The World Bank, Washington, D.C.

#### Selby, J. and C. Hoffmann

2011 Water, Conflict and Migration in the Eastern Mediterranean. Government Office for Science, UK.

#### Sowers, J. and E. Weinthal

2010 Climate Change Adaptation in the Middle East and North Africa: Challenges and Opportunities. The Dubai Initiative Working Paper No. 2, Dubai School of Government and Belfer Centre for Science and International Affairs, Harvard Kennedy School, Dubai and Cambridge, Massachusetts.

International Organization for Migration 17 Route des Morillons CH-1211 Geneva 19, Switzerland Tel.: +41.22.717 91 11 • Fax: +41.22.798 61 50 E-mail: hq@iom.int • Internet: www.iom.int